

Electronic Theses and Dissertations, 2004-2019

2017

Black, White, and Read All Over: Exploring Racial Bias in Print Media Coverage of Serial Rape Cases

Lauren Wright
University of Central Florida



Find similar works at: https://stars.library.ucf.edu/etd University of Central Florida Libraries http://library.ucf.edu

This Doctoral Dissertation (Open Access) is brought to you for free and open access by STARS. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Theses and Dissertations, 2004-2019 by an authorized administrator of STARS. For more information, please contact STARS@ucf.edu.

STARS Citation

Wright, Lauren, "Black, White, and Read All Over: Exploring Racial Bias in Print Media Coverage of Serial Rape Cases" (2017). *Electronic Theses and Dissertations, 2004-2019*. 5420. https://stars.library.ucf.edu/etd/5420



BLACK, WHITE, AND READ ALL OVER: EXPLORING RACIAL BIAS IN PRINT MEDIA COVERAGE OF SERIAL RAPE CASES

by

LAUREN ELIZABETH WRIGHT

B.A. Ohio University, 2010

M.A. Ohio University, 2014

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in the Department of Sociology in the College of Sciences at the University of Central Florida Orlando, Florida

Spring Term 2017

Major Professor: Lin Huff-Corzine

© 2017 Lauren Elizabeth Wright

ABSTRACT

The discussion of race and crime has been a long-standing interest of researchers, with statistics consistently showing an overrepresentation of non-white offenders compared to their white counterparts – specifically in relation to violent crimes such as murder and rape. Prior research has found that about 46 percent of serial rapists are black, a fact that correlates with other sensationalized violent crimes such as mass murder and serial murder. The news media are the primary sources of this kind of information for the general public, with previous studies acknowledging that the media primarily focus on discussing non-white offenders in their crimebased news stories. With the majority of Americans receiving their information about crime from the news media, it is important to increase our understanding of how their representations might influence the general public. The current study explores the print media representations of serial rapists, from 1940-2010, from five newspapers: The Los Angeles Times, The New York Times, The Boston Globe, The Washington Post, and the Chicago Tribune. A content analysis was conducted on 524 articles covering 297 serial rape offenders from the data compiled by Wright, Vander Ven, and Fesmire (2016) in which race of the offender was known. Results show that newspaper articles tend to report about fear-related topics and anxiety surrounding offenders when the offenders are non-white. Results also indicate that while newspapers dehumanize both white and non-white offenders, white offenders tend to have their behavior neutralized using techniques to garner more sympathy.

Keywords: race, media, social construction, serial rape, bias, print media

For Riley, Grammy, and Grampy

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Mom & Dad: I always start with you because I have you to thank the most. There's no doubt that I wouldn't be where I am today without your endless support and guidance as I've embarked on this tiresome and sometimes thankless journey. You've helped me in countless ways and I know that at times it seemed like I was too in my own world to properly thank you, so, thank you. I could take the time to list everything you've done, but it would take up pages. Just know that I appreciate all that you've done for me and I love you very much.

Bryan, Lisa, & Dan: What is there really to say? Moving to Florida was incredibly difficult for me and one of the main reasons was that I would be farthest away from you three that any of us have ever been. Our closeness is not often understood by other people, but it's something that I continuously cherish. Despite being 900 miles away, you guys have offered me unmeasurable support and much-needed laughter throughout my time here. Whether it was sending me fancy chocolates on my birthday, playing Minecraft with me, or Skyping with me once a week so I can see my perfect, beautiful niece, I will never truly be able to give back what you all have given to me. I love you guys.

Kristen: I know you remember what it was like the day I left Athens and the perfect wreck that I was. Despite how difficult it was for us to be separated, you have always been supportive and believed in me, even when I didn't think I could do it. It's not easy being away from your best friend when you're going through one of the most difficult times in your life, but you somehow made it easier for me by just being you. You made me laugh, you Skyped with me nearly every

day, and you forced me to get my work done. I thought that my time in Florida would be one giant "falis" but you were always certain that I could do it. Even sitting here, I'm still not sure that I can, but I know that if I said that to you, you would be instantly telling me I was wrong. I still have the letter that you wrote me when I moved and it remains one of my favorite things. I know I'm not always the easiest person to be friends with sometimes, but I appreciate your role in my life more than I could ever possibly say and from the bottom of my heart, I love you.

Susan: I'll never forget the first day we met. I won't recount the events, but it has been an extremely long road since then. We both have seen school, lived in multiple different places, and had our fair share of trials (you literally so), but through it all, you've remained such an important role as one of my best friends in my life. You've been supportive and encouraging and always there to make me laugh when I needed it. You have consistently remained interested in the work that I do and you have always made me feel like what I do is important – and for that I will always be grateful. I don't think I probably tell you enough, but I am proud and honored to have you as a part of my life. I love you tons.

Amanda and Bennett: Yule cat, whew. 13 years of friendship seemingly goes by so quickly. I get filled with nostalgia whenever I think about it. I truly don't know what I would have done without you. Between my rant-based phone calls, reading my drafts, or contemplating about what life would be like living in Norway, you have kept me sane through everything. You reminded me to take time out of my days to care for myself or to rest. You indulged me in all of my weird conversations about serial killers and rapists and other non-normal topics of conversation. I'm glad that through those 13 years, though there have been ups and downs, we've remained where we are.

I know things get difficult, but your friendship means the world to me. You've always been an important puzzle piece in my life, and I thank Baphomet for that. B – I have known you since before you were a year old. I carried you around a mall in my arms the way that I know you wish you could carry all babies. I have watched you grow into such an amazing, young man and I know you're going to do incredible things with your life. I can't wait to see where you go in the coming years. Thank you for always keeping me laughing and on my toes. Thank you for randomly sending me weird selfies that result in a selfie-war. You're an amazing human and I'm so happy to have you in my life.

Traci: What would I do without you? You perfect creature. Your presence in the department was always such a bright spot in my day. I always knew that I could go to you for anything. You consistently provide me with an ear to listen and the laughter that I often so desperately needed. I wish that you hadn't left us halfway through my final year, but I know that it was the best thing for you. But seeing you is still the bright spot of my day and I will miss you so incredibly much. You make UCF a better place, no matter where you are working.

My Committee: This process has been an arduous one, for sure, but it was certainly made easier knowing I have a committee who is looking out for my best interests. Whether it was checking in to make sure I was getting everything done, sitting and listening to my rant for an hour, or reminding me not to overwork myself, you always had my back. I could not have come this far without your guidance.

Emily: My dearest Emily. Where do I even begin? Remember how we didn't even really talk to one another for the first like six months we were in school? I find it hard to believe now, considering I can't really do anything without you beside me. It's safe to say that the past three years would have been nearly impossible had you not been there. You pushed me to do better. You helped me study. You made me socialize to prevent me from becoming a hermit. I can't fathom where I'd be if you hadn't been around to provide me with all that you have. Everything we've done, we've done together, and I wouldn't have it any other way. Your insight, advice, and friendship mean more to me than I could ever possibly put into words. Thank you for being you. Thank you for constantly putting up with my absurdity. Thank you for making me into a stronger person. I couldn't have asked for a better partner in crime. Love you, boo.

Dave: The last four years have not been easy. Being away from you during this time has been incredibly trying and a true testament to our relationship. You may not be here physically, but your unwavering support and love has made every stop of this journey a little easier. Whenever I questioned myself or doubted my ability, you countered every argument I had. You put up with my endless rants at 11:00 at night when you just wanted to go to bed. You let me take out my frustrations on you without question. You have remained strong for me when I needed it the most. I'm not the person that I was three years ago. I'm older, a little wearier, a lot more tired, but I'm a better person than I was three years ago when I started this mess and that's thanks to you. You let me follow my dreams and you pushed me to pursue my goals and whenever I wanted to quit, which was a lot, your love and support pushed me to keep going. You continue to believe, for reasons I will never understand, that I am some amazing entity — of which to be proud. You talk about me

in a way that makes me wonder if we're even thinking about the same person. Thank you for being you. Thank you for letting me be me. And thank you for pushing me to be the best version of myself. I love you.

Tom: What is there to say? I wouldn't be where I am had it not been for you. It's been nearly ten years since we met for the first time. Over those years, you've been the biggest support system I could have ever asked for. Everything that I've done, all that I've accomplished, has been because of you. You're the reason I'm the person that I am today. You've believed in my abilities since the beginning and you've never let me doubt myself for a second. I know our similar personalities and senses of humor are one of the main reasons our partnership has worked so well. And, while I'm often running around like a chicken with my head cut off, you've still managed to somehow keep me on track. My only regret is being so far away while I've gone through this process – but I wouldn't have been able to do any of this had you not given me the tools in the first place. I know that we've got so many more great years ahead of us, but I wanted to say thank you for the last ten.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES	xii
CHAPTER 1: AN INTRODUCTION	1
CHAPTER 2: A HISTORY OF RACE, CRIME, AND THE MEDIA	4
Race and Crime Offenders Victims	4
Race, Crime, and the Media	10
Race and Serial Violence	14
CHAPTER 3: SOCIAL CONSTRUCTION AND THE MEDIA	17
Symbolic Interaction and Social Constructionism	
CHAPTER 4: DATA AND METHODS	22
Data	22
Methods	23
Analytic Strategy	24
CHAPTER 5: COMMUNITY-LEVEL FEAR	26
Statements of Fear Fear Amongst Authority Fear Amongst the Community	27
CHAPTER 6: MONSTERS AMONG US: THE DEHUMANIZATION AND HUMANIZATION OF OFFENDERS	37
Dehumanization by Decade	
1940s	39
1950s	
1960s	
1970s	
1980s	
2000s	
Dehumanization Explained	

CHAPTER 7: THE DEVIL IS IN THE DETAIL: THE PUBLICATION OF OFFENSE DETAILS	51
CHAPTER 8: DISCUSSION	
The Ideal Offender	80
Limitations and Future Directions	82
REFERENCES	85

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Dehumanization and Humanization Counts for White and Non-White Offer	nders 84

CHAPTER 1: AN INTRODUCTION

News media, print, television, and electronic sources, offer millions of individuals around the world a glimpse into a world of which they might not otherwise be a part. Being able to read stories about horrific crimes that are happening in other places provides participants a break from their boring and mundane lives without having to leave the comfort of their own home - even more so when a crime is highly sensationalized and given exorbitant amounts of media attention. The news media, however, can greatly impact the perceptions their audience has on given topics. For example, even though school shootings are a relatively rare event, they receive some of the most media coverage of any crime – leading the general public to believe that school shootings happen frequently enough that they need to be fearful in their everyday lives. Fox, Levin, and Quinet (2012) point out that even though school shootings are highly publicized and attract a lot of attention from the media and within government policy – there is only a "1 in 2-million chance that a school aged-child will be murdered while at school" (p. 119). The mass media has the potential to disillusion millions of individuals because they are seen as an authority on that given topic and an important agent of socialization (Ehrlich, 2009; Hedges, 2009; Kraus and Auer, 2000).

One of the many ways that the media can influence the perceptions of those partaking in it – is by choosing what they report. Focusing on criminal activity and negative events will likely result in a negative world view, while news programming that focuses on positive, more uplifting content can inspire more positive feelings about the world. The same way that mass media can impact peoples' perceptions about the world, can also potentially impact the ways in which individuals feel about the race of both offenders and victims of crimes. Research has found that media can strongly impact, and often negatively, the ways in which consumers feel about race

and ethnicity of groups that are dissimilar to themselves (Byfield, 2014; Ehrlich, 2009; Wilson, 2005). More specifically, Ehrlich (2009) argues that the media in dominant society, particularly in the United States, is focused on pleasing and perpetuating the "dominant white society" (p. 75). These depictions in the media can ultimately impact the feelings that out-group members have toward those different than themselves and influence racial prejudice and bias.

Some of the more sensationalized crimes discussed in the news media involve cases of serial murder, mass murder, and cases of rape and sexual assault. Interestingly, in contrast to the way the media and research has talked about race and crime, when it comes to sensationalized crimes such as serial and mass murder, the media places more emphasis on the perpetrator when they are white than when they may be a minority. According to Hickey (2013) nearly 56 percent of serial killers in the United States are black. Similarly, Huff-Corzine, McCutcheon, Corzine, Jarvis, Tetzlaff-Bemiller, Weller, & Landon (2014) found that the majority of mass killers in the United States were black males, representing 42 percent of the offender population. Wright, Vander Ven, and Fesmire (2016) had similar findings – though not homicide related, still a violent crime and sensationalized crime - serial rapists were comprised of 46 percent black offenders. All of these sensationalized, violent crimes are demonstrating the opposite of what the media is portraying in regards to racial representation in the media.

However, out of all of the violent crimes discussed in the media, serial rape is the most under researched and most in need of examination. This study aims to explore the ways in which news media discuss race and ethnicity in terms of serial rapists. Using the data set created by Wright, Vander Ven, and Fesmire (2016), this study will explore the over 2,000+ newspaper articles found with incidents of serial rape and conduct a content analysis aimed at understanding how the media talks about race and this particularly violent offense. Additionally, because the

coverage spans seven decades, this study will be able to make generalizations regarding racial coverage in the news over time using content analysis. Understanding these concepts in more intimate detail will provide a better understanding of how race and violent offending intermingle in two very important contexts that influence the perceptions of race and ethnicity on the general population, as well as news media coverage. Combined, the two can be a powerful force in influencing outgroup perceptions of different races and ethnicities.

CHAPTER 2: A HISTORY OF RACE, CRIME, AND THE MEDIA

Race and Crime

Race has been an important component for sociological and criminological researchers when trying to study criminal behavior and criminal victimization. One of the most important reasons that race is so crucial to understanding crime and vice versa, are the startling and disproportionate statistics. According to the FBI (2014), while the black population only represents about 13 percent of the total population, they represented over 50 percent of arrests for murder and robbery, nearly 30 percent for rape and burglary, and 33 percent for aggravated assault... Additionally, the racial makeup of victims is also cause for concern. The FBI (2014) states that about 50 percent of homicide victims were black, 45 percent white, and about 16 percent Hispanic/Latino. These large discrepancies and the disproportionate nature of these numbers has given researchers pause and a ground for conducting research on both offenders and victims and how their race ultimately plays into criminal activity of all types.

Offenders

While violent crime is important and the focus of this proposal, it is important to understand how race impacts even lower level crimes. In her book *The New Jim Crow: Mass Incarceration in the Age of Colorblindness*, Michelle Alexander takes on these disparities in the form of discussing the war on drugs and the extreme numbers associated with mass incarceration, especially for people of color. Alexander suggests that the war on drugs that began in the 1970s, was ultimately a war on race and ethnicity and the resulting backlash has persisted for the decades that followed. She argues that the numbers and statistics associated with drug

arrests for people of color do not make sense and instead follow a racist agenda that puts minorities and lower-class neighborhoods in the foreground. Alexander argues, that despite the knowledge that individuals in neighborhoods were more concerned about murder and other violent crimes than they were drug use, government policy focused on the drug war: "participation in the drug war required a diversion of resources away from more serious crimes, such as murder, rape, grand theft, and violent assault – all of which were of far greater concern to most communities than illegal drug use" (p.73). This allocation of resources pointed the finger at poor minority groups as the root of most problems and subsequently incarcerated them. The Bureau of Justice Statistics (2013) found that black males represented 37 percent of the state and federal inmate population, nearly triple the representation of the non-prison population, while Hispanics accounted for about 22 percent of incarcerated males in the United States while only having a total population representation of about 17 percent. Both minority groups are seen overrepresented in terms of incarceration. However, as stated previously, it is not necessarily because blacks or Hispanics are committing more crimes than whites – especially in terms of drug use, which has seen increased incarceration rates for this offense of over 1,000 percent (Bureau of Justice Statistics, 2003).

Mitchell and Caudy (2013) argue that this increased incarceration rate and the disparities between race and crime spill over into the criminal justice system and that the black offender populations are treated more harshly than the white offender populations, despite the fact that both Black and Hispanic populations were often times less likely to have a drug offense compared to whites. Leiber and Blowers (2003) examined misdemeanor crimes within the court system and how they relate to race and ultimately found that racial disparities existed there as well: "because African Americans are more likely to have their case classified as a priority and

not have a continuance, they have a greater probability than Whites to be convicted and incarcerated" (p. 477). Furthermore, sentencing disparities also exist for specific crimes that are targeted toward race. Alexander (2012) argues that while crack-cocaine and powder- cocaine are essentially the same substance and produce very similar harmful effects, they produce extraordinarily different sentences – and the reason involves race. Crack-cocaine is more commonly used by the lower classes, minority groups because it is cheaper and easy to make. Powder-cocaine is more commonly used by white, upper-class, higher status individuals because it is more pure and thus more expensive. Though both substances have the same detrimental values: "federal laws punish crack offenses one hundred times more severely than offenses involving powder cocaine" (Alexander, 112). The disparities between the races and they are handled both inside and outside of the justice system has been the target of much debate. Why is the black community overrepresented for violent crimes, but for crimes where whites commit offenses at similar rates, blacks are incarcerated more frequently?

Additionally, according to the 2014 Uniform Crime Report, those of Hispanic/Latino ethnicity represented 24 percent of all violent crime arrests while only representing about 17.4 percent of the total United States population (Pew Research Center, 2015). There is also research to suggest that Hispanic/Latino offenders are sentenced more harshly than their white counterparts – similar to the ways discussed occurring with black offenders. Petersilia (1985) found that "…blacks and Hispanics are less likely to be given probation, more likely to receive *prison* sentences, more likely to receive longer sentences, and more likely to serve a greater portion of their original time" (p.28). While not the stark contrast between blacks and whites, there still exists and overrepresentation among this minority population. Additionally, regarding language in discussion of crimes regarding whites and Hispanic/Latinos, Catalano and Waugh

(2013) found that certain words would be used to talk positively about crimes committed by white criminals but would be used negatively to talk about Hispanic/Latino criminals. Despite these findings, there is still little research in the area of Hispanic/Latino crime rates. This study will help examine the racial and ethnic differences between whites and non-white minorities from all racial and ethnic backgrounds to help fill the gap in the literature regarding the disparities between these groups

Victims

While it is important to understand the characteristics of the offenders it is also necessary to understand the characteristics of victims. The relationship between victim and offender can provide both investigators and researchers crucial information in understanding the motivation behind a particular crime. While the news media tends to focus their attention on victim-offender relationships where the parties are strangers – research suggests that the majority of crime victims know their perpetrator on some level. Similarly, as the media may portray that black male offenders are constantly attacking white female victims, the research suggests that the majority of crime is intraracial, or between the same race.

According to Hough & McCorkle (2017) and Fox et. al (2012), the majority of violent crime victims are black males. This research is supported by the FBI. The 2014 Uniform Crime Report stated that nearly 51 percent of murder victims were black and 45 percent were white. With crimes like sexual assault, however, it is much more difficult to know the true racial makeup of the victims of this crime. Reporting rates for rape and sexual assault are incredibly low compared to other crimes with anywhere from 64% to 96% not reported to authorities. (Lisak & Miller, 2002; Fisher, Cullen, & Turner, 2000; Perkins & Klaus, 1996). Fisher, Cullen,

and Turner (2000) found that less than five percent of college-aged women who are sexually assaulted reported it to the police. However, because the majority of crimes are committed against a victim that is of the same race, it is possible that the majority of sexual assault victims are black.

As stated previously, the relationship between victim and offender can help provide crucial information into understanding the crimes committed. Fisher et. al (2000) found that 9 out 10 women that experienced sexual assault in their sample knew their offender and according to the FBI (2014), only about 11.5% of homicides had a victim-offender relationship in which the participants did not know one another. The racial makeup of the victim-offender relationship can have a strong impact on the way cases are handled and dealt with within the criminal justice system.

Researchers suggest that the sentencing and punishment associated with rape and sexual assault may not be about the race of the offender, but instead may be about the race of the victim. Walsh (1987) found in their research that if a black offender committed intraracial rape, that is, rape against a person of their own race/ethnicity, the offender would receive a shorter sentence than if they committed a rape against a white victim. In a more recent study, Maxwell, Robinson, and Post (2003) found that minority individuals were less likely to be found guilty for rape and sexual assault than whites, and would also receive shorter sentences than white offenders. These findings are surprising and contradictory to the findings associated with others crimes. Maxwell et. al (2003) explain these findings by examining the role victims might play, citing that 9 out of 10 victims sexual assaults against black women were committed by black men, while Greenfield (1997) identified that the majority of black men that were incarcerated for sexual assault had white victims. Maxwell et. al (2003) argues that there is an injustice being served to the black

victims of sexual assault and that they are not valued at the same level as white victims. This discrepancy may display as racial differences in offenders, but is really more associated with the victims, as most violent crime is intraracial, with whites committing crimes against whites and blacks committing crimes against blacks (FBI, 2014). Caravelis, Chiricos, and Bales (2011) had similar findings regarding sentencing and minority offenders and argued victim race may be the reason. Research has found that offenders will receive a much harsher punishment if the victim is white (Lauritste, Heimer, & Lynch, 2009; Williams & Demuth, 2007; Spears & Spohns, 1996; Tonry, 1996). These findings suggest that society has deemed the race of the victim as more important than race of the offender.

These notions fit alongside Christie's (1986) discussion of what it means to be an "ideal victim." An ideal victim is seen as someone who is weak, respectable, and often garner much sympathy in the eyes of the public – often young, white females (Eliasson-Nannini, Sommerlad-Rogers, Bradley, & Pearson-Nelson, 2010: Randall, 2010; Wilson & O'Brien, 2016).

Additionally, there is research to suggest that victims of "real rape" are more likely to believed and treated differently within the court system that victims of other types of rape. First discussed by Estrich (1987) in her own experience, Fisher et. al. (2009) explain "real rape" as "the perpetrator is a stranger; the act is committed in a public setting; the victim shows signs of resistance or being overpowered – torn clothes, a bloodied face, bodily bruises (p. 4). Following this line of thought, an ideal victim therefore, would be a victim attacked by a stranger..

However, despite some research regarding how rape cases are dealt with within the criminal justice system based on their perceived "realness" (Larcombe 2002), and the discrepancies associated with race of victim – there is not much known about what it means to be an "ideal victim" in the eyes of the media or the eyes of the law. Because this study has primarily strangers

as the victim-offender relationship, the majority of these cases would be considered "real rape" and thus might produce an "ideal victim" type .This study aims to help use the concept of what it means to be an "ideal victim" and determine whether or not the news media also portrays certain individuals as "ideal offenders" based upon their news coverage of different serial rape cases and the language and rhetoric used in the stories.

These racial biases that are associated with the criminal justice system and the notion of the ideal victim, can be tied to the mass media and the biases found in news reporting of different crimes and how they can impact society as a whole. Research suggests that much of the racial inequality involved within the criminal justice systems stems from a culture of fear and latent racism in our society – often demonstrated within the mainstream mass media.

Race, Crime, and the Media

With all of the discrepancies and racial issues that exist within the criminal justice system, it is not surprising that the news outlets have turned to reporting these issues and the crimes associated with them. Crime is the most popular type of story to exist in news outlets and these stories often shape and influence how individuals feel about certain topics. Campbell (1995) determined that black individuals in the news are portrayed in one of three ways: celebrities, victims, and criminals. Because, as Ehrlich (2009) points out, the news focuses twice the amount of time on crime than any other topic, this indicates that the majority of black individuals on the television would be portrayed as criminals. Why does the media portray some of the most heinous criminals in the news media as white when for smaller, less harmful crimes, they overemphasize minority races? Ehrlich (2009) argues that the answer centers around the media's desire to instill fear in the general public and appeal to more viewers. Collins (2014)

found that news media often tried to justify and humanize the violent and criminal behaviors of white offenders, but not offer these justifications when the offenders were from a minority group. It is possible that the media are ultimately using their power as an agent of socialization to form fear and mistrust within the general public – thus creating more viewers and more consumers. It uses in-group membership to solidify fear of the in-group, but uses out-group membership to solidify and create fear of the out-group as well.

Ehrlich (2009) points out that crime coverage in the media is discussed double the amount of any other topic. While it is rare for news media to cover racial and ethnic minorities in terms of the more sensationalized violent crimes, it is far more common for news outlets to report on lower-level crimes in regards to race and ethnicity. Chiricos and Escholz (2002) found that only "...1 in 20 Whites who appear on screen is a crime suspect. More than 1 in 8 blacks and more than 1 in 4 Hispanics..." (p. 416).

Byfield (2014) contends that there is a working relationship between outside institutions, such as the police force, that work alongside the media to create the stories that they wish to share with the general public. This is not entirely surprising, as the media relies heavily on statements from police officers and detectives regarding various different cases. Byfield believe that this relationship is twofold in that there is: "1) a relationship whereby the external institution serves as a major resource for the media institution, and 2) a feature of the external institution organized or designed specifically to promulgate institutional goals through the dissemination of symbolic information" (p. 104). To put it simply, the police departments investigating these criminal cases can disseminate whichever information they deem important to the news outlets that will be reporting on a case – they ultimately get to control which stories are seen by the general public. If the already biased criminal justice system is controlling and maintaining the

stories given to the popular media, then the biases and prejudice exist not only in each institution separately, but combined, as well.

In terms of print media, Collins (2012) found that the language used to discuss the offender in sexual assault cases, changed based upon race of both the offender and the victim. If both the offender and victim were white, the newspaper articles were far more likely to rationalize the crime than if the offender was non-white or the offender was white with a nonwhite victim. The study also found that if the offender was a minority, the language revolved around themes of poverty and low levels of education. When a crime was committed by a white offender, the language seemed to emphasize that it was not behavior that is typical of normal people, but no such language existed when discussing minority offenders. These findings indicate that the media tries to depict minority offenders as behaving normally for the group in which they are a part, but that white offenders are behaving in a way that is rare for the group to which they belong. Though not stated outright, these subtle hints and word usage has way of spreading into the larger community as a whole and impacting their views on the world and those around them. The police and detective agencies may be providing news stations with crucial information about current cases, but they do not ultimately get to choose the language used by these outlets – demonstrating that the racial bias exists on a much deeper level.

Mastro, Lapinski, Kopacz, and Behm-Morawitz (2009) discuss the issue of "priming" and how it relates to racial exposure in the media. Priming, as described by the authors is: "the process through which information activated by exposure to media guides subsequent judgments" (p. 616). In terms of racial bias and prejudice, exposure to media that is inherently racist or subtly biased against minorities may trigger already existing negative feelings within the viewers or may potentially influence negative stereotypes toward other races. This same study

more specifically examined attitudes in regards to race when individuals were exposed to news reports about rape and sexual assault. The researchers found that there were depending on who was watching the news reports determined what sort of reaction a participant had to the news story. Results found that gender of participant did not influence whether or not they believed an individual was guilty – but race did influence their decision, minority individuals receiving more determinations of guilt than their white offender counterparts.

Presently we've seen that large institutions within the United States play a major role in racial bias that may come along with criminal activity or deviant behavior. Mastro et. al (2009) used sexual assault in their study and found that racial bias existed in presumption of guilt, so it is crucial to take a closer look at race and sexual assault and how they relate to one another in order to gain a deeper understanding of serial rape and its relationship to race and ethnicity. *Race and Rape*

Statistically, men of color represent nearly 30 percent of known offenders regarding rape in the United States (FBI, 2014). These numbers are surprising, given that the black population in the United States only represents about 13 percent. As with any other crime, it is important to understand the different social aspect that may cause such a drastic change in representation regarding this type of violent crime.

Historically, when rape and sexual assault have been discussed in terms of race, it typically referred back to the old south and days of lynching. Black men would be accused of committing rape against a white woman and would often inspire vigilante justice among mobs of white men – often times with little to no evidence against the individuals accused (Byfield, 2014; Dorr, 2004; Sommerville, 2004). Not surprisingly, these events took place after the end of

slavery and into the civil rights era when racial tensions and prejudice were extremely prevalent – especially in the south.

Despite the high rates of lynching that occurred historically, there is little research on black offenders regarding rape and sexual assault in today's literature and the literature often has contradictory findings regarding the nature of offender race and how it plays into the crime of sexual assault, especially in terms of sentencing and punishment. Alexander (2012) mentioned that, at least for drug offenses, black individuals are being arrested and incarcerated at much higher rates than white individuals, despite their rates of use being very similar, if not white offenders using drugs more frequently. As discussed previously, race of the victim was an important component when examining sentence in regards to sexual assault cases. With black men who had white victims receiving harsher sentences than white men with victims and black men with black victims. Missing from all of this, is the discussion of Hispanic/Latino victims and how they play into the crime of sexual assault. This study will help bring a previously uderresearched group more into focus by examining how they are represented within this crime.

When examining the relationship between race and rape and sexual assault, there are contradictory and sometimes inconclusive findings. More research involving the relationship between these two categories, especially when including victims, may provide researchers with a deeper understanding of the topic and how race ultimately plays into not only the criminal act, but the aftermath within the criminal justice system.

Race and Serial Violence

As stated previously, there is a strong connection between race of offenders and serial violence – but one that is not often talked about in the media. The media tends to sensationalize

white serial and mass offenders to the general public, and while a good majority of offenders are white, black offenders are disproportionately represented compared to their population in the general public. It is difficult to garner exact numbers and percentages when dealing with serial offenders, as it involves a lot of guesswork and assuming, but research has found that anywhere between 31 and 51 percent of serial killers are black (Hickey, 2013, Fox, et. al 2012). Hickey (2013) argues that the reason that many black serial killers go unnoticed and are so little talked about in the media is due to the fact that they are killing victims that are also black. As discussed previously, the court system tends to show more leniency for offenders who rape minority victims vs white victims and the same concepts may apply to the way the media handles black serial offenders. Black offenders killing black victims, Hickey (2013) argues, does not sell news stories the way that white victims garner news stories. Fox et. al (2012) supports these claims and also argues that the percentage of black serial killers may actually be understated due to "linkage blindness," or the inability of police or other institutions to link multiple homicides to one individual. The authors argue that because murder and other violent crimes are intraracial: "serial killings of black victims, especially those who are impoverished and marginalized politically, are less likely to be connected, prioritized for investigation, and subsequently solved" (p. 144). These findings support the claim that both the criminal justice system as well as the mass media, control and manipulate the news stories based on racial grounds.

Additionally, Wright, Vander Ven, and Fesmire (2016) examined serial rapists over a seven decade time span in the newsprint media, specifically five different newspapers spread out in different regions of the United States. Finding for this study mirrored those involving serial murder with the black population comprising of about 42 percent offenders. Initially thought to perhaps be a product of racially biased reporting, the authors did an extensive search of offenders

with missing races within sex offender registries and ancestry.com and came up with the same results. Thus, black men are overrepresented among men arrested for rape.

This overview of the literatures demonstrates that there is a disconnect in our society involving race and crime, specifically rape and sexual assault, and more importantly, in regards to the way the mass media discuss cases of sexual assault and rape. There is a distinct lack of literature regarding serial rapists in general, but also in regards to the offender population of this group. This study will aim to explore how race is discussed in newspapers articles in regards to cases of serial rape. Gaining these insights will be crucial to understanding this offender population and will help both researchers and law enforcement better handle these types of offenses in the future, as well as providing a deeper understanding of tactics used to reinforce racial and ethnic bias. Specifically, bias is found in the way that rape and sexual assault are discussed by the mass media.

CHAPTER 3: SOCIAL CONSTRUCTION AND THE MEDIA

Symbolic Interaction and Social Constructionism

Symbolic Interactionism, first put forth by George Herbert Mead (1934) and Herbert Blumer (1969) asserts that society, as well as the symbols, meanings, and interpretations that go along with it, are subjective and that the individuals within a given society simply work together to create the reality in which they live. A more modern discussion of Symbolic Interaction provided by Joel Charon (2001) asserts that there are five ideas that form the foundation of this theory: 1) Human beings are social and interaction between people produces behavior. 2) The human being must be seen as a thinking being. 3) Humans cannot objectively and directly measure their environment – they work together to define the situation that they are in. 4) Human behavior emerges in context – people work together to create a social reality. 5) Humans are active agents. This concept of human beings interacting with one another and creating a reality is the foundation for the theory of social construction.

Building upon symbolic interaction, but taking it a step further, the basic narrative around social constructionism involves the ideas that society and an individual's identity are constructed through these symbolically created social institutions and social interactions. Similar to Charon, Berger & Luckmann (1966) made bold statements about society by suggesting that there is no objective reality to study. Instead, humans, through various different social processes, construct themselves and construct a society that they believe is objective: "Reality is socially defined. But the definitions are always *embodied*, that is, concrete individuals and groups of individuals and groups of individuals serve as definers of reality" (1996, p. 116). This process happens through ways such "habitualization" – limiting human action, or doing something over and over again

until it becomes routine or habit. It also occurs through "institutionalization" which is when habitualization gets repeated by certain actors in social groups, thus habits become institutionalized. When a behavior becomes institutionalized, it takes over, in a way, the larger society. Influential institutions such as the mass media and the criminal justice system, hold enormous power over society, referred to as "roles" to Berger & Luckmann (1966) as they are seen as authority figures on the information with which they present us. They are seen as having a very specific set of knowledge and information that other members of society do not have. When racist and prejudicial behavior existing within the criminal justice system is passed on to the mass media, this racist behavior then becomes institutionalized and becomes standard behavior to the general public, who now see criminal behavior associated with minorities as "normal" (Collins, 2012). This reality constructed by the interaction between law enforcement, the media, and the general public emerges from a system of interactions between the three groups. The media obtains their information about crimes from law enforcement and law enforcement can choose which information they feed to the media as well as how much information they which to provide. The media then takes the information and constructs a story to feed to the general public that will grab their attention – they determine which information goes into the story, how long the story will be, and where the story will go, if in a newspaper, or what time slot the story will be in if on a news television program. These decisions reflect back to the general public what these social institutions deem to be important and worthy of news reporting. These stories then construct the reality of the general public.

Theorists Holstein and Gubrium (2000) discuss social constructionism in the way of narratives and communication between individuals. Though Berger and Luckmann (1966) first initially introduce the topic of conversation as being an important aspect of maintaining reality,

Holstein and Gubrium (2000) take this notion a step further. The authors cite what they call "discourses-in-practice" which are the conditions that guide the ways in which you interact with different people. Narratives told by individuals involve many different aspects, including knowing when to tell a story, acknowledging that your story is being heard and understood, knowing what types of language and discourse are appropriate for a given situation. These discourses-in-practice can be used by both the criminal justice system and the mass media. When the criminal justice system, such as law enforcement and public relations officers, control the content they give to the media, they are thusly controlling the discourse given to the general public – whether that narrative be about race, class, or gender. That narrative constructed by one system is then handed over to the mass media where they consider their target audience – typically white individuals. The stories and narratives they use will ultimately be the reality that is created for their consumers. Eliasson-Nannini, Sommerlad-Rogers, Bradley, & Pearson-Nelson (2010) conducted a study in which they also examined newspaper articles and the ways in which they portrayed victims of serial murder. The authors found that men received more unsympathetic coverage than women. In regards to age, victims between the ages of 18 to 30 were the most likely to receive sympathetic coverage, while those over the age of 50 were the least likely to receive it. The findings from this study help demonstrate how the media can portray stories and victims as being "worthy" or "unworthy" depending on certain demographics. In terms of race and sexual assault victims, prior research that suggests black women victims are not as valued in our society as white women who are victims – thus deeming them "unworthy" and creating that narrative within the general public.

The current study would highly benefit from a content analysis of newspaper coverage of serial rape cases. Understanding the language and narratives constructed and associated with

both offenders and victims of different races would help fill the gap in the literature that holds contradictory findings regarding race and crime in the news media. Social constructionism can also be used to help understand the ways in which the criminal justice system handles offenders of different races, as well as offenders who have minority victims vs white victims. With prior research suggesting that blacks generally receive lesser sentences or similar sentences than whites, unless they have white victims (Caravelis, et. al 2011; Maxwell, et. al. 2003; Walsh, 1987), the analyses conducted will be able to help determine the length of time taken to catch an offender, as well as whether or not the offender was convicted. Newspaper articles will also be able to help determine sentence length in some cases. Results could potentially help determine how law enforcement construct their reality and who they deem to be considered worthy victims and dangerous offenders and thus determining who the media portray as worthy victims and dangerous offenders.

Additionally, the newspaper articles will help determine the conditions for interaction regarding the individuals involved. I hypothesize that the initial interaction between the offender and the victim will be the driving force in determining the rest of the interactions with both the media and law enforcement. This study aims to explore how the race of the offender and the race of the victim impact both the criminal justice system's handling of the crime, as well as the media's portrayal of the crime in the newspapers and thus ultimately impact the public's perception of said victims and offenders based upon their race. Due to the qualitative nature of this study, many of the theoretical aspects behind the data will not emerge until the results are examined. Social Constructionism will help guide the methodology of the research project while other theories may emerge during the process.

This study will examine several research questions to examine the relationship between race, rape, the criminal justice system, and the mass media.

Research Questions

- 1) How does the rhetoric and language in newspaper articles differ depending on race of the offender?
- 2) How does the rhetoric and language in newspaper articles differ depending on the decade?
- 3) How does the rhetoric and language in newspaper articles work to create racial stereotypes or reinforce already existing racial stereotypes?

CHAPTER 4: DATA AND METHODS

Data

Data for this study will consist of secondary data taken from the data set initially created by Wright, Vander Ven, & Fesmire (2016). For their initial study, the researchers created a formal definition of serial rape and then searched newspapers articles for instances of serial rape that fit the definition. Newspapers spanned five different regions within the United States (Boston Globe, Chicago Tribune, Washington Post, Los Angeles Times, and New York Times) as well as seven decades (1940-2010) to ensure the most coverage. The final sample size consists of 1,037 offenders. Newspaper coverage is especially important for the current study, as it is examining the ways in which the mass media covers instances of serial rape and the language used to talk about the crime, the victims, and the offenders. The definition for serial rape used for this study and created by the founding researchers, states:

Three or more separate events of attempted or executed sexual coercion (with or without penetration) that occur over a period greater than 72 hours. Offenders appear to be actively seeking, hunting, or luring victims to accomplish sexual assault as their principal goal. Attacks are linked together (by police, media, or both) by some set of offense characteristics that may include the offender's physical characteristics, a common style of attack, or characteristics of the victim (Wright, Vander Ven, & Fesmire, 2016, p. 13).

The qualitative nature of this study leaves many variables and themes to be explored, however there are a few static variables that can be achieved through the qualitative analyses Source Date: This variable identifies the year associated with each newspaper article written.

Understanding the source date will assist in understanding chosen rhetoric for each story, as well as allow for comparisons across decades.

Race/Ethnicity of Offender: This variable is defined as race or ethnicity of the offender as stated in the article. If race was not stated in the article, but a police sketch was present, perceived race or ethnicity was used. There were ultimately 297 cases in which the race of the offender is known.

Race/Ethnicity of Victim: This variable is defined at the stated race/ethnicity of victims given in the newspaper article.

Methods

This study is comprised of an extensive content analysis. While many content analyses are based around the concept of grounded theory, this particular study uses deductive research to answer the given hypotheses. Deductive research uses theory, social constructionism in this case, to guide the research process and answer the research questions asked. Social constructionism operates under the ideal that reality is subjective and created through social processes. This study uses these concepts to guide the methodology.

To conduct the content analysis, I navigated nearly 524 newspaper articles searching for common themes and rhetoric used in the articles. A coding scheme was developed to keep track of the themes and ideas discovered while examining each individual newspaper article. Themes involving race and ethnicity were recorded; as were the words used to describe the crime, victim, and offender; and the length and placement of the story within the newspaper.

The units of analysis used when examining these articles were words and phrases, as both were used prominently within the rhetoric. In newspaper stories regarding sexual assault, there are often quotes and phrases given by police or victims and it was important to note the phrases used by these individuals, as well as to examine the word choices chosen by the newspaper reporters themselves. Words and phrases were coded as either positive or negative based upon the content surrounding the word or phrase and the definition of the words used as found in Webster's Dictionary.

The newspaper used, the year the article was written, and the race of the offender and victim were also coded.

The content analysis conducted will ultimately help determine the relationship between race and the mass media regarding how it can be influenced by authority figures and the criminal justice system – helping to decipher who and what characteristics are portrayed in news articles about ideal victims and offenders.

Analytic Strategy

During the course of this study, I hand-coded each newspaper article associated with each offender using a method called "systematic thematic coding" guided by the process used by Dr. Tom Vander Ven in the book <u>Getting Wasted: Why College Students Drink Too Much and Party So Hard.</u> Using Social Constructionism as a guiding theory, I aimed to systematically look for words and phrases that would be associated with how a crime or criminal would be depicted to the general public. The process of this centered around multiple readings of each newspaper article, five times for each of 297 total offenders, with some offenders associated with multiple newspaper articles. During the initial reading of each individual article, I hand-coded words and

phrases that were used to describe the crime: "heinous," "brutal," "dastardly." Additionally, words were identified to describe the actions of the offenders...words such as: "prowl," "hunt," and "lure" and words that described the offenders: "demonic," "attractive," "cunning." Using these words as guiding techniques, I then examined all of the coded words and phrases and color-coded them based on theme. The themes that emerged represented the different categories explored in the study. Each theme and category were color-coded based upon which theme(s) they fit into, (i.e. dehumanization, fear-based reactions) as well as cross-coded with the quotes or words that were identified to match. Both were placed in spreadsheet files for easy access. Each article was read an additional four more times to ensure that each was covered thoroughly and that words and phrases were coded to their thematically appropriate match. As with any qualitative study, the findings and themes created are subjective and are thus open to the interpretation of the researcher, however, validity checks were conducted along the way to ensure the least amount of bias possible. These validity checks consisted of sending the words and phrases to a qualified individual outside of the study. This individual then coded the words in phrases into categories that they felt were exemplified in the data. Overall, there were only two instances in which the researcher and the outside-coder did not agree, for an interrater reliability of about 98%.

CHAPTER 5: COMMUNITY-LEVEL FEAR

One of the major themes discovered throughout the coding process were the newspapers accounting for how the community in which these rapes occurred reacted and processed the crimes. This theme, however, was not present, or had a limited number of examples during the earlier decades. The 1940s and 1950s revealed no discussion of community or how a neighborhood reacted to a sexual predator existing in their presence. The 1960s and 1970s displayed some mentions of community, two and three total mentions respectively. It is not until the 1980s, is there a spike in mentions of community reactions to serial rapists, with eleven total mentions. This rise may be attributed to the rise in number of serial rapists over time, as the 1990s has the highest number of mentions of community with 25. However, at the turn of the 21st century, serial rapists drop to levels similar to those in the 1970s, but newspaper coverage of community reactions remained higher than in the 1970s, with total mentions reaching 19. However, the percentage of mentioning community in articles steadily increased from the 1980s through the 2000s. The 1980s saw 15 percent of articles mentioning community, 40 percent with the 1990s, and 49 percent of articles in the 2000s mentioned community level responses to serial sexual offenders. Additionally, the same phenomenon occurred when referencing total number of mentions of community, including multiple mentions in one article.

The main theme discovered in the area of community was that surrounding the concept of fear and anxiety

• Statements of Fear: These words and phrases are defined as words used either by the writer of the article themselves, or in quotes given by individuals who may have been interviewed. Words such as: fear, shock,

panic, uproar, and on edge, were used to describe the generalized feelings of community residents over the crimes.

Using this identified theme, this study then aimed to examine how they were associated along racial lines. In what ways did the newspaper stories discuss community responses to these crimes based upon race of the offender? Knowing this type of information is pertinent to understanding the perceptions the general public will have toward out-group and in-group members. The ways in which these stories establish community responses toward offenders could potentially influence how people react toward different offenders based upon their race.

One of the main ways that community appears to be used in these articles is to demonstrate that at the community level, residents in neighborhoods in which there is a black offender, appear to be less tolerant of the activity and more anxious to remove that individual from their town than in the case of white offenders. However, not all of the findings on the community level demonstrated this aspect. Total, out of the 93 white serial rape offenders, only ten articles mentioned community, while 40 articles of the 180 black serial rape offenders mentioned community level responses, resulting in 10 percent and 22 percent respectively. While there are significantly more black offenders than white offenders, it is possible that the over representations were due to an increase in sample size, however, percentage differences were accounted for and resulted in the following findings.

Statements of Fear

Fear Amongst Authority

Early on, one of the main themes regarding community fear, demonstrated itself by way of authority figures commenting on the crimes and the offenders. Newspapers would often

release statements made by judges, mayors, and police officers to gather their opinion on the crimes that were occurring. These authority figures would then take it upon themselves to serve as a type of spokesperson for the community. One such example, found in the 1950s in an article from the New York Times had a quote from a judge presiding over a case involving a black serial rapist with at least six victims attached to his crime spree: "If this be true, there is no doubt that today the whole community is shocked at this dastardly and brutal act" (P. 9). Additionally an article referencing another black rapist in the Chicago Tribune in the 1950's used a quote from the assistant state attorney, stating: "A one man crime wave...had the neighborhood in an uproar" (P. 13). These quotes demonstrate one of the main ways in which the newspapers articles articulate the feelings of a community. Using someone in a position of power to generalize and speak for residents about what they must be feeling.

This type of speculation began in the 1950s, but continued throughout several decades.

Regarding non-white serial rapists in the 1980s

- Prosecutor: "the man..." a terrorist to our community" (New York Times,
 P. B8).
- Police Sargent: "obviously, they are concerned" (Los Angeles Times, P.
 OC_A22).
- Police Department: "It has the neighborhood very scared..." (Washington Post, P. D07),
- Police Department: "...intended to profit from the fear he created in the community" (Washington Post, P. A1)
- Assistant State Attorney: "This is every woman's worst nightmare, to have somebody attack them in their bed" (Chicago Tribune, Kridel).

These examples have shown, with no exceptions, that over the years, until the most recent decade, newspaper articles relied on authoritative figures to explain to readers the severity of the situation. The offenders that garnered this type of attention were exclusively non-white, even in decades that saw a higher number of white offenders as opposed to black. Using quotes about fear, panic, and terror among community residents from police sergeants, attorney generals, and magistrates, allows the reader to make a connection that black offenders are worse than white offenders – they cause these powerful figureheads to speak out against them and what they have done. And when those same newspapers and articles fail to represent the same level of seriousness for white offenders, it reaffirms that there is something innately better about white offenders than black offenders. Perhaps that black offenders are more dangerous and should be feared on another level than white offenders.

Theoretically, social constructionism works to explain this phenomenon by discussing the ways in which the media socializes and reinforces the negative stereotypes associated with non-white society. Authority figures such as police, magistrates, and district attorneys hold a certain position in a society that deems them more reliable than non-authority figures. When newspaper articles continuously use these authority figures to exemplify fear felt in the community, as well as make general sweeping statements about the offender, it will resonate with readers. And when the authority figures are only talking about black offenders and the fear and panic they create within a community, the "dominant white society" discussed by Ehrlich (2009) has any previous prejudices about out-group members confirmed. Discussed previously, the concept of priming, (Mastro, et. al., 2009) is stated as: "the process through which information activated by exposure to media guides subsequent judgments" (p. 616). Individuals who partake in reading news or watching the news on television are being exposed to these statements, thus potentially

reinforcing already existing negative stereotypes and prejudices they may hold, or creating new ones that did not previously exist. These positions of authority, police officers, judges, and district attorneys, are all given power and authority symbolically, by individuals within a society. Social constructionism dictates that the reality created by those in a society, a reality that individuals believe is objective, is done so through processes referred to as habitualization and institutionalization (Berger & Luckmann, 1966). Habitualization occurs when an act is done repeatedly until it becomes a routine or habit. When newspapers repeatedly report on authority figures describing the fear and panic created by minority offenders, it will eventually become habitualized and thus seen as a reality for those consuming the media – that black offenders are discussed more by those in power, and therefor are reinforcing negative stereotypes.

It is possible, as well, that the reason the newspapers are only reporting the statements on minority offenders from authority figures could be due to the fact that those in positions of power making these statements about minority offenders more frequently covering stories regarding minority offenders over white offenders. This concept falls into the term of institutionalization discussed by Berger & Luckmann (1966) to describe how when habitualization is repeated by powerful actors in certain social groups, the behaviors that were habitualized, then become part of the larger institutions and begin to reflect themselves in the larger society. Berger & Luckmann (1966) continue to discuss how these institutionalized behaviors are made even more powerful when they are perpetuated by those in society who hold certain "roles," or positions given to individuals in a society in which they are seen as an authority figure. If those individuals that hold these positions of power, or "roles" are consistently making comments and statements about fear regarding minority offenders and not white offenders, then their position in society is being used to habitualize and institutionalize

racist and prejudicial behavior that is thusly even more so institutionalized when picked up by the mass mew news outlets that continue to report the statements made by these figures. The decision by the newspaper outlets to report on these statements demonstrates to the general public what is deemed important in our society and aids in constructing a reality that is rife with racial stereotypes and continues to reinforce negative stigma associated with black offenders that does not exist with white offenders.

In the most current decade, there were no authoritative figures referencing community fear – instead the shift in focus seemed to change to the residents themselves discussing what they were thinking, feeling, and doing as a result of the crimes occurring where they live.

Though not seen as authority figures on the topic, it is important to determine if the habitualized and institutionalized behaviors have permeated the public as a whole and what that ultimately means for understanding media reporting bias.

Fear_Amongst the Community

As stated previously, the 1940s, 1950s, and 1960s saw few mentions of community. The 1970s only demonstrated three mentions of community, but produced, for the first time, quotes from residents in the affected communities about how they were feeling in terms of the crimes being committed. The Boston Globe, reporting on a white, male offender, quoted a 14-year old girl: "I'm scared. Really scared all the time now...I never walk anywhere now, after dark. I always call my parents" (Larkin, p. 55). The Chicago Tribune, reporting on a black offender, quoted a victim who managed to escape from the rapist in saying: "...everybody I know has been in a state of constant panic...several of my friends haven't been able to sleep at

night and they're even terrified to go home after work unless they have an escort" (Coates, p. A14).

The 1980s saw an increase in rapists, mentions of community, and additionally, mentions of fear and anxiety via quotes from residents. In the case of a white offender, the Washington Post quoted a female resident as saying: "I have the lights on all the time and I'm going to get the bushes in my front yard cut. We're pretty much living like prisoners, with the windows nailed and doors double-bolted..." (Engel & Whitaker, p. C1). The Washington Post again quoted a 47 year old woman in regards to a white offender, stating: "I'm not a person who frightens easily, but now I'm a hell of a lot more aware when I go out" (Gregg & Vobejda, p. C3).

The 1990s percentage of community mentions continued to increase. The New York

Times has several people quoted in various different articles regarding black offenders.

- "I'm very concerned, especially being female. I don't want to be raped at 68" (Blair, p. 23)
- "You try to steel yourself to the possibility that danger is around you...but things like this make you feel that you can't ever full protect yourself" and called the situation "frightening" (Daniels, p. 21).
- "I was aware of the rapes and yes there was great concern here...everyone
 I spoke to was quite anxious and I told my daughter when she was coming
 home at night to take the bus from the station" (James, B3)
- "We're very careful getting on and off trains," "I don't dally. I come straight home from work and I always look to see who's around me" (Daniels, B3).

But the New York Times is not the only newspaper in the 90s to quote community residents in regards to black offenders. The Chicago Tribune included this quote from a community mother: "It's just not safe. I have a bat in my hand when I walk them to school. I'm not playing" (Zeleny) as well as from another article "My 7-year-old daughter is afraid to go to school" and "This is something I think about all the time now...we have to keep constantly watching behind us when we go anywhere" (Blau & Kendall). The Los Angeles Times reported on a white offender with residents saying things such as "This is going to create hysteria among the citizens of San Clemente...it's going to be so much panic" as well as 'The girls are pretty scared around here" (Gomez & Paulson).

As stated previously, the 2000s decade did not have newspaper articles quoting individuals in positions of authority regarding fear and panic within a community, but they did, however, quote several community members in their pieces. All in regards to non-white offenders

- "I have to work. I always look over my shoulder, and sometimes I get the creeps and start running" (Washington Post, Jackman, B3).
- "For eight years, we have been victims of a rapist, forced to take alternative routes because we don't feel safe in our community" (Los Angeles Times, Cardenas),
- "The attack in this normally quiet town known more for its golf courses and horse farms has alarmed residents. 'I'm scared,' said [a resident], who lives...near the victim's home" (Boston Globe, Paige, B3).

- "I think it's scary. It's real scary...to have someone following you and just take away your innocence like that that's crazy" (Boston Globe, Ellement, B1).
- "I take a different route at night. To think things like this happen in your own backyard is very disturbing" (New York Times, Lueck, B4).

All of these quotes regarding community members and the fear the feel regarding a serial rapist being present in their neighborhood, are from cases in which the offender is a non-white male.

There are no mentions of fear or concern amongst community residents when white offenders were present.

These examples of community level responses represented in the news media demonstrate that the habitualization and institutionalization that has occurred within those of authority against non-white offenders has become a permanent part of the general public. The newspapers have consistently reported on community responses, both authoritative and community-level, in regards to non-white offenders, but has not reported these responses in nearly the same capacity with white offenders. While there are fewer white serial rapists, the percentages represented in community-level responses are below that of black offenders with 5 percent and 7 percent respectively. While the percentages overall are low, the representation matters. Individuals who are reading these articles are now being saturated from both the institutional level and the community level in their reactions to non-white offenders over white offenders. This saturation plays even more into the concept of priming discussed previously. Individuals who may have had underlying negative stereotypes associated with out-group members are having their opinions and feelings confirmed and validated via the constant media attention and the rhetoric of fear and panic surrounding non-white offenders. This social

construction created by the mass media of the non-white offender as inherently more harmful and scary than the white offender has created in the mind of the consumer, a reality that there is more to fear regarding non-white offenders – that there is a level of danger that exists on a higher level, despite the nature of the crime being inherently the same. Over time, we see the decrease from authoritarian discussion of the inherently fearful nature of non-white offenders into the sector of community-level individuals speaking out about the fear in their community, about not wanting to walk alone at night, double-bolting doors and windows, and taking different routes home from work or school. While there were a couple instances of community-level fear with white offenders, the overwhelming responses were towards non-white individuals. Reasons for this shift in focus could be attributed to a number of different factors – including changes in privacy laws, changes to how newspapers access individuals to interview, and the ease with which writers can obtain an interview with increased technology. Reporters are no longer scrambling to record on a tape that they have to rewind and listen to continuously – they can now, with ease, record sound bites on their phones. Additionally, with the increase of public spread of news media, authority figures may be less inclined nowadays to comment for fear of saying something that might be perceived as controversial by the general public. Whatever the reason for the shift, the reality that has been symbolically constructed over time by authority figures and community-level individuals, and disseminated to the general public using the mass media, the repercussions are real and contributing to the ever-present problem of racist and stereotypical thinking among the dominant society.

This line of thinking ultimately leads to the question of whether or not our society has an "ideal offender." In other words, who is the person that garners the most fear, the person who

people think about when they hear the term "serial rapist" and how do the newspapers describe these individuals and their acts to the general public?

CHAPTER 6: MONSTERS AMONG US: THE DEHUMANIZATION AND HUMANIZATION OF OFFENDERS

As I coded the data available in the newspaper articles, a theme emerged centering around the ways that the offenders were described in the newspapers. Often, when discussing the traits of an offender, newspapers would sometimes quote officials or community members about various traits regarding the offender themselves, as well as use their own descriptive terms involving the crimes they had committed. Articles were coded by identifying any terms used to describe the offender or their act. What emerged was a dichotomous description of the offenders and their acts that dehumanized some and humanized others. Dehumanization terms were identified as words that are usually used to describe life-forms or actions that are typically associated with an animal or the non-human world, while humanization terms were identified as words or actions that could be used to make an offender seem more human or relatable to the general public. The identification of these terms were guided using two main research frames. Collins (2014) examined the language in newspaper articles to determine if there is a racial bias associated with crime victims and offenders. The variable for dehumanization defined by Collins is as follows:

This sub-theme coded references to crime as a brutal or animalistic act (e.g. using words such as 'savage', or 'wild') or as mechanistic (e.g. references to a calculating killer). Both of these uses of language have a similar effect on the connotation of the crime. That is, this language portrays the crime as behavior that is outside the repertoire of 'normal' human beings. Crimes described as such are then crimes that are morally or ethically bankrupt. Example: 'barbarism'; 'savage'; 'pure evil' (Collins, p. 85).

Using this framework, along with the support of Crothers (2007) who argues that in the media, whites are seen as "the best educated, most effective, most law-abiding members of society" while blacks are seen as "out-of-control, sexually aggressive predator(s)" (p. 103-4), the current study aimed to find similar words and phrasing to describe both the crime and the offender. Additionally, this study is framed around Loseke's (1993) discussion of people types and the ways that society constructs people to be negative or positive Loseke argues that society works together to construct individuals as having "sympathy-worthiness" or "condemnationworthiness" (p. 122). What constitutes an individual as being worthy of sympathy or condemnation depends on the language used and the claims-makers who ultimately use this language to interact with the general public. In this context, the claims-makers are the newspaper articles covering these crimes. The language and rhetoric used by the media is disseminated across the general public and will ultimately dictate which types of individuals the public sees as worthy of sympathy or worthy of condemnation. Loseke also argues that within these claimsmaking arenas, there are also "counterrhetorical strategies" (p. 124) used to redefine a situation or an individual as needing more sympathy or condemnation. This study aims to look at the language used to describe these individuals and acts as something that is decidedly non-human and ultimately worthy of condemnation. However, using Loseke's discussion of counterrhetorical strategies, their study also wants to look at how newspaper articles talk in sympathy-worthy ways regarding the offenders they deem immoral or condemnation-worthy and whether that differs based upon the race of these offenders. In other words, when a newspaper article discusses and offender as a brutal creature committing violent, brutal acts – is there a counter-discussion about what this type of person is like that may present them as more relatable

and sympathy-worthy to the general public – humanizing those individuals to neutralize the fear of the general public?

Humanization was examined using Loseke (1993) as a guiding force, finding variables that would make a person relatable, citing many of the social institutions at work (family, peers, education, religion, employment), as well as discussions of appearance and intelligence (i.e. whether the offender was described as attractive, smart, cunning). These humanization tactics could work in two different ways. The first way it interacts with readers might be to demonstrate less victim-blaming. A cunning, smart offender means that the crime could have happened to anybody – that the offender was just too good to avoid. Additionally, this tactic could be used to create a more positive outlook on the offender, suggesting that they are not quite as bad as they might first appear.

Dehumanization by Decade

1940s

The 1940s saw many instances of dehumanization for both white and black offenders.

White: "There is no place to put this boy outside of sending him to the penitentiary, and taking him out of society for the protection of our women" (Chicago Tribune, p. A4).

"Early yesterday morning a prowler was frightened from the second floor of a boarding house" (Boston Globe, p. 1).

"Secreting the bicycle, Steffey would lie in wait and approach the victim as she reached the car he had selected" (Chicago Tribune, p. 12).

Black: "Dangerous and loathsome creature" (New York Times, p. 52).

"Wright told police, they said, that he would prowl thru alleys at night seeking screened windows which were unlocked" (Chicago Tribune, p. 1).

"Oplatka asserted Forston preyed on women war workers returning home between midnight and 6 a.m." (Chicago Tribune, p. 20).

"The engineer chased the prowler into the dining room" (Chicago Tribune, p. 20).

While both groups show examples of dehumanization with words such as "prowler" and loathsome creature," as well phrases often associated with animals such as: "lie in wait" and "preyed on women," only the white offenders had additional comments made alongside the dehumanization comments that could be seen as humanizing them and creating a different image than the non-human lifeforms initially used.

One of the white offenders was a juvenile and the article mentioned several times where he went to school – an important agent of socialization that most of the general public can relate to. Creating a sense of youthfulness for this particular offender could be important in allowing him to be seen as sympathy-worthy. Another white offender was described using several positive terms: "pretty blonde boy;" "handsome;" "pleasant;" and "disarming." These words are actively being used to describe a sexual offender, a rapist who has committed crimes against multiple victims – and while his actions were described in a non-human way, "lying in wait", these positive descriptions of his physical appearance and demeanor could potentially have a counterrhetoric effect that would allow readers of these articles to see him as sympathy-worthy, someone who may not have committed a crime, or may not be all that bad, falling into the discussion by Crothers (2007) depicting white as good.

While the 1950s saw both white and black offenders, only one white offender was referenced in terms of dehumanization, stating: "The man, police said, is a sexual degenerate who has been hunted since last spring" (The Chicago Tribune, p. 2). This quote not only refers to the white offender as a degenerate, which, by definition, means for someone to fall below normal standards, but they also referencing hunting this individual – an action typically left for animals.

Black: "A man on a crime rampage with utter disregard of the laws of God and man" (Chicago Tribune, p. 6).

"Accused as the rapist-robber who preyed on couples in parked cars" (Chicago Tribune, p. A4).

"An ex-convict accused as the rapist-robber who preyed on couples in parked cars" (Chicago Tribune, p. 11).

"Police yesterday intensified their search for a Negro rapist who has been preying on women on south side railroad platforms" (Chicago Tribune, p. 44)

These quotes regarding black serial offenders in the 1950s are primarily about their actions – their preying on their victims the way that animals prey on their potential meals. One quote even depicts the offender as purposefully disobeying the laws of mankind. But, unlike the 1940s, there is no evidence of humanization techniques at play in any of these articles.

1960s

With the 1960s we still see about the same number of dehumanization techniques at play:

White: "You're a brute and a beast" (Los Angeles Times, p. 3).

"A masked rapist who prowls the Maryland suburbs..." (Washington Post, p. A1.)

Black: "Hooded prowler chased from woman's home" (Los Angeles Times, p.

A1).

"The lowest form of human life" (Los Angeles Times, p. A1).

"The phantom-like rapist was thwarted in his latest attack" (Los Angeles Times, p. B16).

"An animal who preyed on children" (New York Times, p. 25).

In these examples we see that the white offenders had only two mentions of dehumanization, one referring to the offender as a beast, the other referencing the act itself, while the black offenders were all described as being, themselves, nonhuman (the lowest form of human life, phantom-like, an animal). All of these descriptions are working to create a sense of condemnation around the black offenders themselves.

The humanization technique only appears twice in these articles, one for a white offender, in which they discuss the offender's job as a jewelry polisher, while one of the black offenders was an individual who was still in college and his education information was properly referenced. Unlike the offender from the 1940s, who was white and in high school, this offender is black and in college.

1970s

The 1970s, while still consisting of a small number of offenders, still produced interesting and important findings regarding dehumanization and their humanizing counterparts.

White: "A young man with a remarkable ability to alter his appearance and to prowl unnoticed at night" (Los Angeles Times, p. SG7).

Non-White: "We're not living in a rapist's jungle" (Chicago Tribune, p. 1).

"He always strikes when the women are home alone" (Los Angeles Times, p. CS1).

"Neighbors failed to report seeing a prowler on a fire escape" (New York

Times, p. 25).

These examples are off-set by some of the more interesting humanizing aspects that accompany them in the article. The white offender, in the same sentence used to dehumanize him, is, directly before the comment, called remarkable. While the newspaper may have been using this word to describe the offender's ability to commit his crimes without being caught, the connotation of the world "remarkable" still holds a certain linguistic place, a positive light being shone on a negative situation. Only one of the non-white offenders had any positive, humanizing aspects attached to his article. This particular article mentioned that the black offender had white victims, but that he was also seen as "personable," "articulate," and "clean cut." (Ruhlow, p. CS1). For the first time since the 1940s, positive and encouraging words were used to describe a non-white sexual offender. But also of interest is the mention of victims of the offender being white women. Bishop (2006) states: "It is in the interest of the media to highlight violent crime, especially violence committed by young black males, because this is the kind of crime that the public fears most" (p. 145). Additionally, Perry & Sutton (2006) found that when crime is interracial, the coverage in the news media is more extreme. These findings suggest that while it appears that there are humanizing aspects associated with this non-white offender, the mention of white victims may generate more fear within the general public. The purpose of referring to the offender as "personable" and "clean cut" serves as a tool to demonstrate that this offender is atypical from what is usually seen, therefor remaining even more dangerous, as they are unexpected and victims may be more vulnerable to their tricks. Due to the socialization that has occurred across time, the general public, from all racial and ethnic groups, automatically associate white with good and non-white with bad.

With an increase in offenders, the 1980s saw a decade that also increased its discussion of dehumanization for both white and non-white offenders. The white offenders saw much of the non-human rhetoric centered around the actions themselves, oftentimes using words such as "preying, hunting, stalking."

White: "He strikes in Montgomery one night, and Fairfax the next" (Brown, p. C1).

"He strikes between dusk and midnight" (Whitaker, p. A1).

"All 10 were hunted" (Washington Post, p. A2).

"The man preys on women between the ages of 20 and 50 living alone in ground-floor apartments" (Klein, p. V_A8).

"The attacker stalked some of his victims and returned later to rape them"

"Hunting women constantly"

"He is like the devil; he is poison" (Hicks, p. OC1).

While the non-white offenders saw much of the rhetoric surrounding their actions, there was also a decent amount of rhetoric surrounding the very nature of the individuals themselves, often using words such as "nightmare", "prowler" "truly evil."

Non-White: "A series of unsigned notes that warn of a knife-wielding rapist prowling the east side of Santa Monica have appeared" (Los Angeles Times, WS_A6).

"A rapist who preys on women alone at home has attacked his fourth victim in the last six weeks"

"A terrorist to our community who stalked his 10 victims and attacked them"

"But Keith Young was the living nightmare of these 10 women" (Buder, B8).

"Police hunt rapist in Maywood who preys on elderly" (Wood, p. W10).

"Police responded to a routine call about a prowler" (Cawley, p. 4).

"Nevertheless, she said, she realized that she could not open her door with

this threatening presence nearby" (Smith, p. A1).
"A truly evil person" (Chicago Tribune, p. B3).

There is a noted difference in the rhetoric surrounding these two groups — one focuses on dehumanizing the actions while the other focuses on dehumanizing the individuals themselves. While each group experienced similar rates of dehumanizing in these newspaper articles, the rates of humanization that occurred for both groups are drastically different. In regards to the white offenders, one was called "articulate" and "seemingly well-educated" while another was said to have "an exceptional mind" similarly, the white offender referred to as the devil and called "poison" was mentioned as being a "good looking guy" with references to his employment as a businessman. Another white offender was said to be "very good at what he does" in regards to his commission of rape and thus far remaining unsuccessfully captured by law enforcement.

Two of the non-white offenders, however, did have instances of humanization tied to them. The first, as with the offender discussed during the 1970s, was mentioned as having white victims and was referred to as "soft-spoken." The other non-white offender was discussed as being a doctor, a "highly-respected physician" and being a "devoted father of two." This last offender discussed was seen as an important member of the community in which he lived, was very unassuming, and his arrest for the said crimes was surprising to those that knew him. Along with one other instance in the 1990s, this is the only other humanizing of a non-white offender that appears to mirror how the white offenders were humanized within the same decade.

1990s

With the shift into the decade of the 1990s, we still saw high rates of dehumanization among offenders, particularly non-white offenders, but the instances of also working to humanize these individuals, both white and non-white, continued to drop.

White: "Our fear is that the more success that he enjoys, the more he endeavors to feed his appetite" (Rippee).

"He apparently has stalked his victims and attacked them when he was certain they were alone" (Christian)

"A serial rapist who has been stalking young women for the past six months struck again late Tuesday night"

"Spurred by the fear that a rapist is roaming the streets uncaught"

"The assailant often stalked women who were alone in ground-floor apartments" (Thomas & Davis, p. D1).

"Police say the assailant stalks his victims to make sure they are alone before he enters through unlocked ground-level windows" (Washington Post, p. DC7).

While the 1980s saw a discrepancy in the ways in which newspapers dehumanized white and non-white offenders, the 1990s appears to focus away from dehumanizing the individual non-white offenders, and instead tended to focus on dehumanizing their actions the way the newspapers tend to do for white offenders.

Non-White: "In all four cases, police said the assailant preyed on Korean or other Asian women" (Valentine, p. B08).

"There is evidence that a serial rapist is stalking victims in a Brooklyn neighborhood" (New York Times, p. B6).

"An animal, that's what he is" (New York Times, p. B8).

"The attacker preyed on tourists in a region whose economy depends upon them" (Chicago Tribune).

"New caution exercised as hunt continues for suspected serial rapist"

"Police believe that the man is preying upon girls on their morning walk to school"

"A rapist has been preying on high school girls walking to school"

"It was in early 1990 that police noticed a serial rapist was preying on lone Latinas as they walked to bus stops early in the morning"

"First the assailant stalked the victims, determining the location of their vehicle"

"Nervous residents were on the lookout for a vehicle that authorities say may be linked to a rapist who has been stalking teenage males"

Two instances of humanization occurred with white offenders, with an article calling the man "soft-spoken" and "apologetic in demeanor" while another article referenced that the offender was married. Both of these humanization techniques work to establish either a sense of normalcy (the wife) or demonstrate that the offender was not nearly as scary as he was made out to be, he is an individual who was apologetic about what he had done. The only instance of a non-white offender in this decade experiencing humanization was a Hispanic man described as "a religious man who loves his family." This quote humanizes the offender using two different major agents of socialization: religion and family. Despite there being more non-white offenders, the white offenders are still seeing, on average, more humanization techniques occur. But the upcoming decade has findings that are even more polarized.

2000s

Over the past three decades, the data has shown a shift in an increased dehumanization rate for non-white offenders, while white offenders have seen a relatively constant level over the past few decades. Humanization rates, however, have continued to decline and this current decade is no exception – exhibiting zero instances of humanization for any offender. A big

change that did occur, however, is that the 2000s saw no instances of dehumanization regarding white offenders.

Non-White: "The man would prowl the area at night, searching for victims, learning their movements" (Los Angeles Times)

"The Belmont Shore predator was known for jimmying his way into women's homes through windows and backdoors" (LeDuff, p. A16).

"Sexual predator is stalking Los Feliz-Area Schoolgirls" (Los Angeles Times)

"A serial rapist stalking women in the western suburbs apparently struck again yesterday despite an intensive manhunt for him" (Chicago Tribune)

"He lies in wait, and he will conceal himself somewhere in the parking or courtyard areas" (Los Angeles Times)

All of these non-white offenders are shown as being animalistic in their behaviors – stalking, prowling, lying in wait, but two also being referred to as predators. The only other decade that did not have any white cases of dehumanization was the 1950s. Even in the 1960s, when there were more white serial rapists present than non-white, we still saw more cases of dehumanization for black offenders.

Dehumanization Explained

Across the seven-decade time span, the results of this study have consistently found that non-white serial rape offenders have higher rates of dehumanization associated with them — additionally, white serial rape offenders have higher rates of humanization techniques used in conjunction with the articles that are ultimately dehumanizing them. While there were instances of non-white offenders experiencing the neutralization that comes along with humanizing an offender — more often than not, this did not occur. In fact, of the 24 instances of dehumanization

that occurred for white offenders, there was a total of 10 humanizing techniques to counteract that, while there were 43 non-white dehumanization examples, there were only five examples of humanizing neutralization techniques used.

These findings suggest that the newspaper reporting on non-white serial rape offenders is biased toward representing these individuals as non-human, individuals who should be feared and locked away. The findings also suggest, that while white serial rape offenders are also seen as non-human, these discussions are then neutralized by making them more relatable to the public, offering up examples of being attractive or charming, occasionally intelligent or having a family. These reporting techniques used by newspapers are constructing a reality for the general public that black offenders should be feared more than white offenders, that they cannot control the primal, animalistic side of our human lineage. The discourses-in-practice, first discussed by Holstein and Gubrium (2000) suggest that when a story is told, in this case a newspaper article, the tellers of that story control the content and the way the story is told based upon who they perceive to be their primary audience. The story that is told then becomes the constructed reality for their consumers. In this case, the discourse is set around defining two different groups in two separate ways. The whites are defined as being non-human, but redeemable non-humans, in that they aren't always bad and could potentially have a good side to them. The non-white population are defined as being non-human, but with almost no redeemable human qualities to their existence, as though this is just who they are and it cannot be helped. This is congruent with the findings of Collins (2014) who found that newspaper articles often tried to justify or humanize white offenders but that those justifications disappeared when referencing non-white offenders.

When examining the discussion of Loseke's (1993) people types and how society begins to define certain victims and offenders as sympathy-worthy or condemnation-worthy, we see that

these findings suggest that the newspaper articles are framing white offenders as deserving more sympathy from readers and the general public. The inherent non-use of humanization techniques associated with non-white offenders while simultaneously representing them as non-human entities and creatures of their more basic instincts, they are being seen as condemnation-worthy – individuals who are to be feared and dealt with appropriately. The construction of these groups in the newspapers work together to reinforce already existing negative stereotypes associated with minority groups, while also reaffirming with their target, mostly white-dominated consumers, that white offenders, while having committed a heinous crime, are inherently good people with the potential for being and doing good. Their behavior was bad, but the overall person themselves, was not. These findings are also supported by Russell-Brown (2006) who found that, despite the statistics stating otherwise, most individuals, from all racial and ethnic backgrounds, believe they will be criminally victimized by a black man.

CHAPTER 7: THE DEVIL IS IN THE DETAIL: THE PUBLICATION OF OFFENSE DETAILS

Another major theme found throughout the study was the discussion of the crimes that were committed. Throughout the seven-decade time span, the newspaper reporting on these crimes varied from no information at all, to full-out descriptions of the events that occurred. It is understandable to think that these descriptions would vary by decade, as privacy laws have changed considerably since the 1940s, but I aimed to examine whether or not there were differences in these descriptions of the crimes based on race or ethnicity of the offender. Falling in line with the social construction theoretical framework used previously – the differences in description, if based on race, could ultimately impact the ways that the general public views members of certain racial and ethnic groups. Fields & Jerin (1999) found that most of the respondents in their research believe that what is presented in the media regarding crime is accurate. Chermak (1994) discusses facts that lead to a story becoming important enough to report: 1) the nature of the offense; 2) demographic factors of victims and offenders; 3) uniqueness of the event; 4) event salience; and 5) characteristics of the media agency. In other words, there are several reasons why a news story could be deemed reportable. With the majority of Americans receiving their information about crime from the news (Tunnell, 1992), it is important to understand the ways that these media outlets could be potentially impacting their consumers with the ways they reveal information about serial rape crimes. Robinson (2014) argues that because the media focuses so heavily on crime and so many individuals receive their knowledge about crime from the media – the media are involved in constructing what the public sees as "the typical view of crime" (p. 95). Also, as Jenkins (1998) discusses, the general consuming audience, because of how frequently they see the information, is more likely to

believe that what is being shown is representative of what is fact, that is, what is actually happening, when, in fact, that may or may not be the case.

In total, when examining news articles that provided details of the crime that had occurred, 35 of the 93 articles, or about 38 percent, on white offenders had added details of the crime while 80 of the 180 non-white offender articles, or 44 percent, had details provided about crimes. When examined by decade, there were three decades that saw higher rates of white articles discussing crime details – the 1940s, 1950s, and the 1990s. Quotes from the 1940s reveal that the white offenders were discussed in terms of having been caught by police:

Iverson...was captured Dec 4th after he had beaten Mrs. Agnes Brennan, 44, a widow, of 1404 w. 81st st., with an iron bar near her home, injuring her so severely that she spent 15 days in a hospital" "Subsequently, Iverson confessed that he had seized a nurse near 89th st. and Justine av. about Nov 1, and dragged her across the street into a vacant lot. Another victim was a 21 year old dancing teacher, whom he threatened with a knife at 87th st. and Hermitage av. He bound her hands with a babushka, blindfolded her with her brassiere, and attempted to attack her. (Chicago Tribune, p. A4).

In contrast, the black offender was discussed in terms of his crimes and how he would choose his potential victims:

On July 30, after attempting to rape one woman in a double-decker bed while her 6 year old twin sons were asleep in the upper bunk, Wright is said to have stolen \$8 from a dresser drawer and fled as his intended victim screamed. Wright told police, they said, that he would prowl thru alleys at night seeking screened windows which were unlocked (Chicago Tribune, p. 1).

The 1950s also saw primary discussion of white offenders surrounding their capture by police or being positively identified by victims:

He was identified positively by an 8 year old girl whom he struck in the face after exposing himself to her in a hallway at 6 S. Homan av. at 10:30 a.m. on July 6. He had lured her to the hallway after meeting her in front of 4030 Madison st. and promising her a doll. Maureen Brady, 8, of 4258 Jackson blvd., identified Schermerhorn was the man who promised her a walking doll in a ten cent store...Then, she said, he too her to Garfield park, where he struck her on the head three times with a fragment of cement. The girl told police that a man whom she met at St. Louis av. and Jackson blvd. took her to Central Park av. and 5th av. in Garfield park, placed a cloth over her face, gagged her, and molested her. He then struck her in the face and fled. She also was promised a walking doll. (Chicago Tribune, p. 2)

A husky 32 year old mechanic, who was identified by a 39 year old housewife as the man who invaded her bedroom yesterday while she was sleeping and threatened her with a long bladed hunting knife. He confirmed her story that he awoke her and held the knife at her throat as he announced his intention of raping her. She said she pleaded she had 'just gotten over the flu' and that he replied: 'O.K. I'll leave you alone if you behave yourself ad don't say anything. Where's your money?' (Chicago Tribune, p. 14).

While at least during the 1950s, the non-white offenders were primarily discussed as at-large and unidentified:

The seventh attempted rape here in the past three weeks occurred today when an unidentified Negro slipped into the hospital room of a 55-year-old woman patient. A nurse who ran to the room after hearing the screams of the patient, suffered a broken nose when the man punched her in the face and fled. 'The woman patient...said she was lying awake in her darkened room when the assailant entered. She said she thought at first he was a hospital orderly. The patient was quoted by police as saying the man jammed his hand over her mouth and attempted to force her back on the bed (Washington Post, p. M3)

The two women told police they were waiting for a train...when the armed rapist appeared. He forced them...off the platform onto the roof of the Ostberg Seed company. There he bound and gagged both before attacking the dental assistant. After the attack the rapist took \$24 from his victim and \$6 from the purse of her companion. Untying them, he followed the women back to the platform and then disappeared (Chicago Tribune, p. 44)

A 19-year-old waitress on her way to work was approached...about 5:45 a.m., police said. The man pressed a knife against her throat, forced her to walk to a parking lot a half-block away, took \$5 from her purse and then assaulted her. The attractive 20-year-old girl...said she had returned home with her boyfriend shortly before midnight. A few minutes after he left, she said, a stranger lured her out on

the pretext her boyfriend's car had crashed around the corner. (Washington Post, p. 1).

The decade of the 1990s, however, saw a bit of a shift in the rhetoric surrounding white and non-white offenders. Many of the white offenders were being discussed in terms of being atlarge, or not yet having been caught by police and their crimes are described in ways that non-white offenders were talked about in the 1940s and 1950s, such as choosing their victim or eluding police capture.

He followed a young woman walking to a shopping center...where he grabbed her and pinned her to the wall of an abandoned bank building. He then sexually assaulted her" "A week later...the teen followed and attacked a jogger running at night...when the woman tried to run away, he sped up on his bike and rammed into her (Wilson)

The first three victims...were abducted at knifepoint and raped in isolated locations...the fourth person attacked, a 10-year-old girl who was walking to her home with groceries for her family, was threatened with a stun gun... (Mrozek)

In the eight or more times he has struck in the past 11 months, he has waited for his victim in the dimly lit parking lots of apartment complexes. Brandishing a knife, screwdriver or gun, he approaches a woman getting out of her car and shoves her back in. He drives the woman a short distances before attacking. When he's done, he kicks the woman out of her car and then abandons it (Holt)

Last Tuesday night the man struck for the fifth time since October, raping a woman in her...home. He apparently has stalked his victims and attacked them when he was certain they were alone. Victims have been blindfolded, bound and gagged (Christian)

In each case, a ski-masked assailant forced his way into the woman's apartment, tied her hands, blindfolded her, raped her and robbed her. In three of the five cases, a young child was present in the apartment during the assault (Cerven)

In the latest incident, two sisters were awakened in their upstairs bedroom by a man who was not wearing pants. He carried one of the girls, 12, from her bed and told her he had a knife and would hurt her if she made any noise...he put a sock in her mouth to keep her quiet before taking her downstairs and assaulting her (Koziol)

A 40-year-old woman who lives alone in a first-floor apartment said she awoke to find a masked, gloved man sitting on her back with his hand over her mouth. The intruder told the woman he wanted to have sexual intercourse with her (Wilgoren, p. C05)

While the non-white offenders were also discussed in this way, there appeared to be more emphasis on the type of victims that the offender chose to attack:

The victim, a 28-year-old woman, had just entered her apartment...when the masked gunman grabbed her from behind and sexually assaulted her after a struggle. Two women...took out their garbage, and when they returned to their town house, they were confronted by an armed man in a black ski mask (Jackman, p. B07)

A 21-year-old woman was accosted shortly before 1:30 p.m. while walking...She was approached from the rear by a subject who told her he was wanted by the police...He said he was being watched by the police, he was hiding from the police, and wanted to walk with the young lady for cover. During that walk and that conversation, he indicated he had a gun. ...The assailant calmly led the woman to an isolated area behind a building where he raped her. (Duggan, p. C1).

The longest ordeal took place last July 11, when the man abducted a 13-year-old as she was taking out the trash at her apartment complex...During the next 10 hours, he drove her throughout Northern Virginia, stopping several times to sexually assault and rape her (Miller, p. a01).

In an incident...a 13-year-old girl was waiting for a bus when the man appeared, drew a handgun and forced her into an alley" "one week later, a 12-year-old girl who had gotten off a bus was similarly confronted and raped in an alley (Ferris)

The first rape occurred shortly before 10 A.M... A 19-year old woman was waiting for an M train...when the man walked up, showed a handgun, pushed her to the end of the platform and raped her (Roane, p. 51).

Due to the nature and extent of these crimes, it is not surprising that newspapers are sensationalizing the ways that they discuss what happened – especially when the offenders are unknown. Information breeds fear and with crimes that sell, such as serial killing, mass shootings, and, now, serial rapists, news outlets look to sell as much of a story as they can. The construction of these crimes as exceedingly dangerous and scary by describing, in detail, the events that happened to many of these victims, demonstrates to the public that there is a reason to be afraid – look at what happened to these victims, this could happen to you, or your children, or your wife. It provides details, informing the public about how the offenders gained access to the victims – walking alone at night, unlocked doors, being tricked in some way along with a message informing readers that it could happen to them.

The other four decades, the 1960s, 1970s, 1980s, and 2000s, consisted of instances where there were higher percentages of articles regarding non-white offenders and details of crimes.

1960s

The white offenders in the 1960s saw a variety of discussion regarding the details and intricacies of the crimes that were committed:

The suspect has used a knife to accost eight San Fernando Valley women in the last several months police said. He takes his victims, accosted mostly in parking

lots, to isolated alleys 'completes the crime and returns them to the location of the kidnapping' according to police" (Fradkin, A1)

Kidnapping, beating and raping a 5-year-old girl in Big Tujunga Canyon.

Kidnapping a 6-year-old girl from her La Canada house and engaging in sex perversion. Robbing a 25-year old woman after forcing her car off the road.

Hiding in the cars of a 15-year old girl and a 20-year old girl in shopping centers, then surprising them at knifepoint, robbing and raping them (Grant, SF_A1)

In each case, the victim, driving in her car, was motioned to stop by another motorist who said one of the car's wheels was loose, according to police records. She was then forced at knifepoint to drive to a secluded area where she was criminally assaulted and robbed (Los Angeles Times, SF8).

The daylight attack was the fourth since March 19, when a girl, 16, en route to school, was accosted in Oriole Park by a man with a gun and led down an alley to an open garage where she was raped and robbed. A woman, 34, told police she was confronted by a man wielding an ice pick after pulling into her garage with her 17-month-old son...she said the man robbed her of \$20 and intended to rape her but fled after she told him she was pregnant. A woman, 23, and also pregnant, said she was approached by a man with a gun as she walked home from a grocery (The Chicago Tribune, B24)

The method Novick used in all the robberies was the same, police said. The assailant, posing as a possible renter, attacked the building manager in her apartment after starting to fill out an application. He tied each victim with twine and dumped jewelry and other valuables into a shopping bag he carried. (The Chicago Tribune, N14)

The non-white offenders were discussed as follows:

The police said she was attacked when she returned to her sixth-floor apartment...after putting garbage in an incinerator; she had been gone about two minutes and had left her door unlocked. After a struggle during which the assailant's knife was broken, the police said the woman was beaten and raped. The rapist took her purse when he fled (The New York Times, 32)

Police said the rapist awakened the couple in the bedroom of their 10 room home, terrorized them with a gun, threatened their lives, and then bound the banker with a Venetian blind cord and his belt. The assailant beat the woman with his fists and gun when she resisted, then he raped her. Before fleeing, he ransacked the house and took 170 and several articles (The Chicago Tribune, D9).

But their screams weren't heard beyond the four walls of their mother's bedroom. Police said the pretty brunet had gone to bed around 10:15 p.m. Sunday, 10 minutes after her husband left to go downtown. Her children were in bed, too, but a 10-year-old daughter heard a noise outside her window. She peered outside and cried out: 'Mommy, there's a man with a hood on out here.' Seconds later, police

said, the man broke through the rear door, ran into the woman's room, and threw her onto the bed. Unlike the three previous episodes, he did not brandish a weapon but warned his victim: 'Shut up. Be quiet or I'll kill you.'(Los Angeles Times, A2).

The victim told police she was walking to a relative's house when a man seized her from behind, brandished a knife and forced her into the basement of a nearby apartment building. After the rape, her attacker fled when he heard a door open in the building... (The Washington Post, A3)

The latest, however, was last night in the sixth-floor apartment of a 38-year-old widow. She left her door unlocked while taking out the garbage. When she returned she saw the legs of a man, hiding behind the drapes of her bedroom window. Holding a carving knife in a gloved hand, he warned her: 'Don't scream or I'll kill you.' She grabbed the blade and it snapped in her hand. He dropped the broken knife, beat her down with his fists and raped her. Then he fled with money from her purse (The Washington Post, A3)

In examining the differences in quotes from the 1960s, we can see that the discourse used for the white offenders and non-white offenders is slightly different. With the white offenders there appears to mostly be statements of facts regarding what happened against whom this act was committed. The articles discussing non-white offenders use discourse that gives the allusion of

telling a story. This difference is key to understanding the social construction of white and nonwhite offenders in the media.

1970s

The decade of the 1970s saw a slight shift in length regarding the discussions – in that the newspaper articles were not nearly as lengthy and descriptive as they might have been previously – possibly due to privacy laws and changes in reader population. Similar to the 1960s, the white offenders received mainly a telling of facts regarding the offense details:

The man fit the description of an attacker who, on Nov 26, collared a young girl as she walked down the street after attending church not far from the shopping center. She was gagged, dragged to nearby railroad tracks, bound and raped. (Larkin, 33)

Wednesday morning's attack occurred as the waitress, returning home from her late night job, got into an elevator in her apartment building and was joined by the robber. Sturgill quoted her as saying that the man hit her on the head with brass knuckles and took \$50 from her after threatening her with death. (Smith, N7).

The four widows, all in the seventies, had been assaulted between noon and 3 p.m. while visiting graves of their husbands or relatives. He said the women were either dragged into bushes or lured into secluded spots by their assailant who had gained their attention by asking directions. (Morang & Elsener, 1)

While remaining shorter overall, the description of the attacks for the non-white offenders were longer and more detailed than the descriptions for the white offenders. Though the story-telling aspect appears to exist in some places, the presence has diminished during the 1970s:

The rapist accosted his victim as she fumbled for her apartment key while carrying an armload of groceries. He forced her inside her apartment, raped her and stole \$80 from her purse, police said. A man matching the same description raped another 19-year-old girl last Saturday in a nearby apartment after binding two young men who were visiting her. He also stole \$400 from the three. (Coates, N A20).

A 25-year-old waitress was on her way home from work when she was forced into her assailant's car...she was taken to her apartment, raped repeatedly, and forced to perform deviate sexual acts in a two-hour ordeal in her apartment. A Northwestern coed was forced into her assailant's car at knifepoint...driven to the parking lot of a restaurant...forced to disrobe in the back seat, and then assaulted. An 18-year-old woman was abducted as she walked to her car after swimming class...She was taken to the same restaurant parking lot...and raped repeatedly and forced to perform deviate sex acts in the backseat of her assailant's car (Thompson, 2).

The first incident occurred...when an Albany Park woman reported being raped in her home. She told police a man knocked at her door and told her that her husband had been injured so she would open the door and let him in. A week

later, a man of the same description asked to use the phone in the home of a...woman, saying her husband had been involved in an auto accident nearby. After gaining entrance, the man allegedly attempted to rape the woman and beat her before she fled and called police (Chicago Tribune, N_C12).

In all but one case, the man raped or assaulted the women in their homes. He usually enters the house through an unlocked door early in the morning, grabs the woman, forces her into the bedroom, and begins beating her with his fists. Then he removes his clothes and hers, and forces her to participate in sexual acts. If she screams or resists, he usually ties her hands with a bra or scarf, or stuffs her mouth with clothing (Tofani, B3).

The presentation of the crime descriptions for non-white offenders is decidedly lengthier than their white counterparts. This allows the readers to read more in-depth about the atrocities committed by non-white offenders, thus creating a more ingrained culture of fear surrounding the minority offenders that reaffirms already existing stereotypes.

The 1980s, again, saw a drop-off in the amount reported about these crimes, but non-white offenders still saw higher percentages of reporting compared to whites. White offenders only saw about 21 percent reporting, while non-white offenders saw 35 percent reporting. White offenders:

Shortly before 9 o'clock one night late last month, a man wearing a hood forced open a living-room window of a house in the normally quiet Silver Spring neighborhood and grabbed an 18-year-old woman, forcing her into her dining

room where he raped her... Three nights later...about a mile away...a 13-year-old girl was attacked as she lay on a recreation room sofa watching television about 11:15. She also was raped, apparently by the same man... (Whitaker, p. A1)

The little girl was kidnapped while walking...at about 7:30 a.m. A man stopped his van, reached out and grabbed the child... The man threatened the child with two knives, raped her, 'then ordered her to get out of the van' Billiter, p. OC A1).

A masked gunman believed responsible for at least seven recent rapes...broke into another motel early Sunday and raped a 34-year-old woman and her 16-year-old daughter after locking the father and three younger children in a bathroom. The assailant terrorized the family for more than three hours before escaping through the window of their ground-floor room just before dawn (Weisenhaus & Cawley, p. 1)

(The victim) didn't hear the guy enter. She was lying on her stomach with her back to the door...the guy grabbed a sculpting knife and a sweater that were on her dresser...all she saw was his hand before he threw the sweater over her head. He put the knife to her throat and warned her not to scream. He tied her hands with shoelaces and gagged her. Then he began ripping off her clothes...The attack lasted 30 minutes...before leaving, the man threatened the girl with the knife again. He told her to count to 60 and fled down the hallway (Emmerman & Unger, p. 3)

...she left her boyfriend's apartment on foot about 1:15 a.m....because of an argument and was walking to a nearby convenience store to make a telephone call when the attack occurred. A man walked up behind her, grabbed her and slapped her twice...and then he put a knife to her throat....the attacker forced the woman into a wooded area just off the frontage road... (McNeil, p. NW A1).

While non-white offenders were represented as such:

The most recent attack took place on Dec. 1 when a single woman, aged 42, got off a Metro bus...in the early evening. The woman was dragged at knifepoint behind two construction trailers where the assailant attacked her, slashed her across the face with a butcher knife and stole her purse (Dougherty, p. VA5).

The woman was walking in the vicinity of the Peach Orchard Apartments...about 2 a.m...on her way home from work, when she was assaulted and dragged at knifepoint into an adjacent open field....the assailant then bound the woman with rope and tape, gagged her with a cloth and stole her money before removing her clothes and raping her... (Feeney, p. C5)

In the latest incident, police said the assailant approached the victim from behind and threatened her with a knife before forcing her into a wooded area and raping her (Ifill, p.B1).

Suspect knocked on the door in the early morning hours of May 2, asked victim, a woman in her 20s, for help in finding a friend's address. Suspect forced entry through the partly open door, attacked victim and pushed her into her bedroom. Victim was threatened with death unless she stopped screaming. Suspect closed bedroom door as he left (Lindgren, p. CS1).

The 20-year-old woman was taken to an orange grove in Irvine near where the other attacks occurred, and was repeatedly raped and sodomized..." "At that time, a 14-year-old Santa Ana girl was in her church parking lot when four men approached her in a car, asking for directions. When she attempted to flee, three of the men picked her up and threw her in the car... They demanded \$100, threatened her with a knife and a gun, and drove her to the orange grove... where she was attacked (Morrison, p. OC_A1).

In August, a little girl was taken from (near) a Catholic church. The suspect told the little girl, 'The priest wants you to help me get some books'...Then a month earlier, at a school, a guy used the same technique to get the girl to go with him, only he told her 'The principal wants you to help me get some books.' Some of the victims, all girls between 8 and 13 years of age, were 'slapped around' by their attacker...one had fingerprint bruises on her neck and one had been kicked in the chest (Townsend, p. C1).

In all 12 attacks...the suspect approached his victims from the rear, put a gun to their head and forced them to go with him, usually to a courtyard or alleyway. The first of yesterday's attacks occurred at 2 a.m. The 40-year-old victim told police that she had been followed...to outside her apartment building, where she was accosted. The gunman forced her into the building and raped her in the elevator (Buder, p. B4).

In the most recent case, a 28-year-old woman was forced from the M train shortly after 7 P.M....when the train stopped in the tunnel beneath City Hall. The woman, whose screams were heard by other passengers as she was led out of the train, was forced on a half-hour walk through the tracks of abandoned 19th century transit system. Far off on a spur track, she was forced to strip naked, to knee behind a train stopping block and was sodomized (Marriott, P. B1).

The 1980s appears to demonstrate a tipping-point for the ways in which newspapers discuss white and non-white offenders. This decade demonstrates that no matter what the race or ethnicity of the offender, newspapers tended to represent their crimes in relatively equal manner – including length, material included, and ways the crime are discussed.

The 2000s, however, found only three instances in which white offenders were discussed in detail:

A 17-year-old student leaving school...was accosted from behind by a man who tried to force her into a van" "Two 13-year-old girls walking across a railroad bridge...were followed by a man who pushed one of them off the bridge, then

tried to sexually assault the other" "A 16-year-old girl was walking along an asphalt path between two...schools when a man approached her and tried to start a conversation. When she indicated she was deaf, he pushed her down and sexually assaulted her (Ball, D05).

The man sexually assaulted a woman as she parked inside the garage at her...condominium complex" "In the latest incident...the man wielded what appeared to be either a toy or plastic handgun....confronted after reaching for her belongings on the passenger side (Crane, B4).

The victim, a 58-year-old woman, was ironing clothes in her living room about 7 a.m. when an intruder struck her in the head, either with his fist or with a blunt object (Pfeifer).

However the non-white offenders had 19 in-depth descriptions about the crimes they have committed against their victims.

A neighbor picked her up from a bus stop and gave her a ride home because it was raining...The driver saw her enter her home safely and left. When the girl went inside, she saw a closet door ajar. As she went to close it, a man inside attacked her. The man tied the girl's hands behind her back, engaged in variety of sex acts and then raped her. After repeating the sex acts in an upstairs bathroom, the man fled... (Fulvio, B03).

A 22-year-old woman was dragged into the woods from one of the paths and raped the night of Sept 21...On Oct 7, a woman walking on another footpath about 9:40 p.m. was grabbed and knocked down, but her attacker ran when she screamed. Later that evening, a woman walking on a path was grabbed, forced into a secluded area and raped (Wilgoren, B02).

A man in a white Honda Accord approached a 14-year-old...student walking to school...She was allegedly offered a ride by a man identified by the victim...The girl refused, prompting her assailant to drive farther up the block. He parked his car and again approached the girl and then used a knife or simulated a gun to force her into the car. The assault occurred in an alley about two blocks away (Blankstein).

In the Skokie assault, the suspect rang the doorbell of the victim's home at 8:30 a.m., flashed a badge and said he was a police officer. He pushed his way inside, pistol-whipped and then handcuffed the victim...He ripped the telephone from the wall, tied up a female housekeeper with the cord and put the women in separate rooms while he ransacked the house. He attempted to sexually assault the homeowner. The 38-year-old victim found a man standing in her kitchen shortly after 8 a.m. when she returned from walking her son to a school bus stop (Cox).

The most recent rape victim said she was walking...just after sunrise, taking the same route she has taken to school every day for four years. Seeing a shadow

behind her, she turned around and saw a man jogging toward her. He grabbed her and asked for money. She gave him \$5. 'I told him "Please let me go" she said. 'Then he took me down the hill' He put a beanie over her face. 'I screamed...he said "If you scream one more time, I will break your neck" so I tried to calm myself and him down. I told him "You don't know what you are doing to me. You're going to hurt me for life" he said "No, I'm not" and I knew then things would change forever' (Hayasaki & Landsberg).

Copeland allegedly approached a woman as she walked to her boyfriend's home and offered her a ride. Once inside the car...Copeland took her a short distance before he shut off the lights, turned the car off, and pulled a pair of handcuffs from inside the glove compartment. He told her she would have to perform oral sex or she would get arrested. When she still refused...Mr. Copeland grabbed her by the back of the neck, forced her onto him and made her perform oral sex (Latour, B.2).

The most recent decade has demonstrated a shift, again, into the story-telling narrative that was associated with the non-white offenders in earlier time periods. The descriptions are length and detailed, offering up more information than the white offenders of not only this decade but several of the decades prior. These findings demonstrate that while there are patterns regarding white and non-white offenders, those patterns appear to change from decade-to-decade, possibly as a result of the social and political climates of the times. Despite the persistent use of crime-specific details associated with these offenders, it's possible that the pattern lies elsewhere — whether in reporting styles, reporting details, or even information released by the police

departments. There does not appear to be one distinct pattern that exists throughout the entire seven decades.

CHAPTER 8: DISCUSSION

The social construction of race and ethnicity in the news media has been a widelyresearched phenomenon that has offered mixed findings. Earlier work from Campbell (1995)
found that the media tends to focus on minority individuals as either celebrities, criminals, or
victims. Chiricos and Escholz (2002) similarly found that minority offenders were often more
frequently represented as offenders in the news than their white counterparts. Collins (2014)
discovered that, of the criminal portrayals of race in the media, the news tended to rationalize
and justify the behavior of white offenders, but did not offer the same justifications for non-white
offenders. This prejudicial behavior was one of the previous studies guiding the current research
project. This study aimed to examine whether the biases that existed in Collins (2014) study were
present in regards to talking about serial rapists, about whom data was available in my 19402010 data set.

This study was guided by the notion that there already exists a bias on an institutional level regarding minority offenders within the criminal justice system and aimed to explore whether there were biases that exist on another institutional level that would possibly contribute to the already present racial and ethnic biases that are associated with minority groups. Priming, described by Mastro, Lapinski, Kopacz, and Behm-Morawitz (2009) is "the process through which information activated by exposure to media guides subsequent judgments" (p. 616). When the general public is constantly bombarded with crime-related media, especially when that media has been shown to produce bias reporting, it is no surprise that priming is going to take place. The current study used the theory of social constructionism to argue that the ways in which the news media report on serial rape cases is contributing to the concept of priming and ultimately

guiding the socially constructed reality of the general public that consumes these news reports on a daily basis.

Social construction argues that there is no one, true reality. Reality is constructed over time using shared symbols and meanings that important groups and institutions constantly recreate and replicate over extended periods of time. The concept of habitualization, in which individuals or groups consistently do something until it becomes routine, or habit. This habitualization, when conducted by powerful social groups, then becomes institutionalized, meaning it then has a more powerful influence over society, and members of that society see the behavior as normal and legitimate, because it comes from a higher institution than themselves. The mass media, due to the sheer number of individuals it can reach at any given time, and because of the number of individuals who receive their information about crime from the news, 96 percent (Tunnell, 1992), is considered to be one of the major institutions that impact the socially constructed realities of the general public, especially regarding crime. The news media, along with the criminal justice system as a whole, is seen as an authority figure, whose reporting is an accurate representation of what is actually occurring in the world.

Due to their position as an authority figure, the media's role in how they discuss and represent offenders based upon their race and ethnicity is extremely important in understanding the social construction of a racially biased society. Prior research on the topic has demonstrated that the majority of serial rapists are black, at 46 percent of known race cases (Wright, Vander Ven, & Fesmire, 2016), and due to their overrepresentation as offenders, this study wanted to explore whether or not the ways in which these offenders were represented differed based upon their race or ethnicity. This study ultimately found that, despite the seven-decade time span, there were two main ways in which the newspapers marginalized their non-white offenders – thus

potentially contributing to the priming effect that occurs with media exposure, and contributing to a socially-constructed reality in which non-white offenders are deemed more dangerous and more harmful than their white counterparts.

One of the findings that supports this notion is the way in which newspapers discuss fear and alarm in regards to the crime of serial rape and its impacts on a community. This study first examined the ways in which authority figures ultimately speak for the communities themselves and how they are feeling in regards to a particular crime. This finding is of particular importance, because it demonstrates that the racial and ethnic bias against minority offenders exists on an institutional level. When judges, police officers, mayors, and the like, consistently report on the danger and seriousness of these crimes and how they're negatively impacting a community, the general public are going to construct a reality based upon the representation that occurs with these statements. The findings for this section reveal that authority figures, by and large, only discuss the impacts on community and the seriousness of the crimes when the offender was nonwhite. There were no examples of authority figures referencing the community or levels of fear when white offenders were involved. This type of behavior and institutionalization that occurred within the data, has the ability to create a reality for the general public that says that non-white offenders are the types of individuals of which the public should be afraid. When the consuming public sees newspaper stories reporting on authority figures commenting on these terrifying, non-white offenders, with no similar comments on the white serial rape offenders, even during decades where white offenders existed in higher numbers, the public will then work to construct a reality where the non-white offender is inherently more dangerous to them – thus contributing to already existing negative social stigma surrounding non-white offenders. It's important to note that authority figures making statements about offenders all but disappeared during the decade of the 2000s. As the internet and social media began and continued to flourish, it is possible that these figures were concerned about the negative reactions or repercussions that might come along with widespread access to the news. In prior decades, the newspapers and quotes from individuals were often limited to those individuals who read the newspaper or lived in a nearby community. However, with the late 1990s and the early 2000s, the internet and the number of people that can be reached grew – possibly prompting less extreme statements from individuals who might not want to receive widespread public scrutiny.

As social construction dictates, when a behavior, such as racial bias, becomes institutionalized the way that it has in regards to reporting fear and concern over non-white serial rapists, that behavior begins to permeate the general public and further constructs the reality that non-white serial rapists are inherently more dangerous than their white counterparts. When examining the ways in which newspapers reported quotes from those living in the communities that were impacted, a similar pattern started to emerge that the communities were inherently more fearful of non-white offenders. The content analysis showed that newspapers more frequently quote from community members regarding fear and anxiety surrounding non-white offenders than they did with white offenders. In fact, the 2000s, a decade which saw a decline in the authority figures reporting on community fear, saw no instances of newspaper reporting of community members expressing fear or concern regarding white offenders. There were, however, several cases of newspapers reporting on these feelings in reference to non-white offenders. These findings demonstrate, that even as the number of serial rapists declines, newspapers still rely on the community to sell their story. Quotes discussing staying in the house and about panic being instilled, are pervasive throughout the decades starting in the 1970s. As the focus shifted away from authority figures and onto community members themselves, the

impact of institutionalized racial bias shines through. As Russell-Brown (2006) found, most racial and ethnic groups, including minority groups, believe that they are more likely to be a victim of a crime committed by a black offender. Additionally, Bishop (2006) found that the general public tends to fear violent crime at the hands of black men more than other types. This construction of the non-white serial rapist as more dangerous than the white offender, contributes to these already primed behaviors. It confirms and reaffirms already existing racial bias that might exist – suggesting that the general public should continue to fear non-white offenders more so than anyone else.

Another major finding from this study examines, again, the ways in which these newspapers discuss offenders in terms of seeing them as non-human entities vs individuals that are human and relatable to the general public. Guided by Loseke's (1993) discussion of people types and the social construction of individuals as being "sympathy-worthy" or "condemnation-worthy", this study found that newspapers have, consistently over time, described white and non-white offenders differently.

Due to the nature of the crime itself, it was not unusual that the newspapers sensationalized these crimes and discussed them in wholly negative terms. The crimes themselves are considered condemnation-worthy by their very nature, but many of the offenders, both white and non-white were discussed in terms of condemnation, referred to in ways that would be considered non-human (i.e. beast, the devil, creature), as were their crimes (i.e. prowling, hunting, lying in wait). However, despite both groups being described in this way – the non-white portion of offenders were described as non-human more frequently than white offenders. The process of dehumanizing offenders works as follows. Dehumanizing offenders and their acts ultimately constructs a reality for readers that the individuals committing these

crimes are not morally aware individuals like the regular public, but instead are creatures that are succumbing to their most basic instincts, the instincts of animals and demons. Humans are seen as being capable of moral reasoning and rational behavior, and when newspaper articles represent non-white offenders in this light, it is reaffirming that racial bias that might already exist. It creates a fear in the general public that non-white offenders aren't capable of reason and cannot control their more primitive instincts. Though white offenders were described in this way as well, a sympathy-worthy technique was frequently used to neutralize their behavior...that of humanization.

Humanization is a technique that exists in these newspaper articles to ultimately neutralize or create sympathy for an offender that might otherwise be seen as nothing but a vile creature that needs to rot in prison. These techniques include mentioning family, employment, religion, or their appearance. These items ultimately make a person more relatable to the public, someone in whom they can see parts of themselves. This study found that, despite there being less white offenders, the humanization neutralization techniques were used twice as frequently than for non-white offenders. In total, there were only five humanization techniques used in regards to non-white offenders for the forty-three dehumanization techniques that were used. This finding is important, as it demonstrates that newspaper articles, whether intentionally or unintentionally, often make excuses for, or make more relatable, white offenders. The general public, who are consuming these articles, will be impacted by this form of biased reporting. Collins (2014) found that excuses were often used when describing white offenders, while Crothers (2007) found that non-white individuals are typically depicted in the media as out-ofcontrol predators, while white individuals are seen as the epitome of picturesque and all that is good with the world. The findings from this study support the previous findings and make a

similar claim that white serial rape offenders have their crime neutralized by making them seem more relatable to the general public, or making them seem as though this is not something a white individual could have done. Non-white offenders are seen as non-human, surrendering to their animalistic-like tendencies. The reality that is created when this happens, demonstrates to readers that white offenders make mistakes, but are inherently good, while non-white offenders also make mistakes, but that what they've done is simply in their nature and cannot be controlled – thus reinforcing negative stereotypes.

The last variable this study explored was that of understanding the extent to which newspapers described, in-depth, the nature of the crimes committed against their victims and whether those descriptions also changed based upon race and ethnicity. What this analysis ultimately demonstrated was that, despite being a pretty consistent theme throughout, there appeared to be no distinct pattern based upon the offender's race or ethnicity. This finding holds true with other reporting techniques that are associated with reporting on sensationalized crime.

Greer (2006) reports that the news media are going to be more likely to report on a crime when it can fit the pattern of a story of "the cold-blooded, evil offender versus the innocent victim" (Robinson, 93). In the case of serial rapists, these offenders are committing one of the most heinous crimes imaginable and, for the most part, against highly vulnerable populations...women who are alone and defenseless. This narrative is one that sticks with the general public and creates that aura of fear, no matter the race or ethnicity of the offender.

While this study demonstrates, with the other findings, that the media socially constructs the offenders and their crimes in a certain way based on their race or ethnicity, it appears that for the overall crime as a whole, for the story-telling process that takes place during a sensationalized crime, that the story itself holds the most importance, that the nature of the crime

and what happened to the victims, is the main driving force in the amount of detail put forth in these newspaper articles. Dowler (2006) found that when news media reports on sex crimes, like that of serial rapists, they are more likely to create fear in their news stories while Horowtiz (2007) found that public interest in sex-related crime news stories has increased, thus creating a higher demand for news media outlets to report on such events. Jewkes (2004) found that the media, on average, over reports on crimes of a sexual nature "distorting the overall picture of crime that the public receives, and instilling exaggerated fears among women regarding their likelihood of being victims of such crimes" (48). While the findings here do not demonstrate a racial and ethnic bias, the frequency with which these crimes are reported and the racial bias that occurs in terms of how the community expresses fear and the non-human reporting techniques used for non-white offenders, will ultimately contribute to already existing racial biases, as well as form new beliefs regarding white offenders as inherently good and non-white offenders as inherently bad.

The Ideal Offender

Prior research has suggested that society and the criminal justice system operate in regards to whom they deem worthy as victims. The data show that society sees young, white women as the "ideal victim" and those are the stories that are more likely to be reported in the news and are more likely to receive sympathy from the general public in regards to the crimes that occurred. (Christie, 1986; Eliasson-Nannini, Sommerlad-Rogers, Bradley, & Pearson-Nelson, 2010: Randall, 2010; Wilson & O'Brien, 2016). In the same respect, this study aimed to explore whether or not the newspaper socially constructs, in a similar fashion, the "ideal offender." An "ideal offender" is ultimately the person that society imagines when they close

their eyes and think about who they should fear most...who is going to be committing a crime against them. What does that person look like? Prior research has shown that the public fears non-white offenders over white offenders and believe that, no matter the race or ethnicity of those surveyed, they believe non-white individuals are going to be the ones committing a crime against them (Bishop, 2006; Russell-Brown, 2006; Crothers, 2007). The media works to socially construct this image who the ideal offender might be. The media over reports on crime where the offender is black (Dowler, 2004; Dixon, 2007; Dixon, 2008) and doing so will ultimately construct a reality that non-white offenders are more common and more dangerous. Add this in with the findings of the current study, which demonstrate that when a non-white serial rapist is present, fear and anxiety are reported in the news at higher rates. Additionally, the current study found that newspapers tend to dehumanize both white and non-white serial rapists, but that newspapers tended to neutralize the crimes of white offenders by making them seem more relatable – a technique that was almost never used regarding non-white offenders.

The oversaturation of the news media with sex crimes, along with the explicit detail present in the newspaper articles regarding serial rapists, work together to construct a fearful reality that the general public, and women more specifically, should be afraid of these sensationalized types of crime. This socially constructed fear is amplified when the news media chooses to report levels of fear and anxiety in response to non-white offenders but not as a response to white offenders and by creating an atmosphere where non-white offenders are seen as animalistic and dangerous – we see that news media creates a perfect storm for socially constructing the "ideal offender." Statistics consistently show that crime tends to be intraracial, or between the same race (Fox, et. al. 2012; Hough & McCorkle, 2017), yet the fear tends to gravitate toward being fearful of non-white offenders. The news media as an institution has

worked to socially construct a reality in which non-white offenders are dangerous, non-human entities that should be feared and monitored closely, and that construction has permeated the general public to reinforce racist and prejudicial beliefs.

Limitations and Future Directions

The nature of this study is limited in a few ways. First, the data themselves are taken from newspaper articles in five different regions of the country. It is possible that not all cases of serial rape were covered during this time period and that there are instances that could be missing and thus possibly impacting the data. Additionally, race of offender, for the overall number of serial rapists, was still relatively low, with only 297 cases out of 1,037 having known race of offender. This percentage, if higher, could help potentially result in a more definitive statement regarding reporting surrounding serial rape offenders. As with any qualitative study, the findings and themes created are subjective and are thus open to the interpretation of the researcher, however, validity checks were conducted along the way to ensure the least amount of bias possible.

While thorough, this study lends itself to important future research implications. Due to the small number of instances in which the race of the victim was known, it would be important to study how the newspaper reporting changed regarding race and ethnicity of the victim.

Additionally, future research should examine the community level responses to the offenders on an extended-level. Several themes regarding community reactions to the crime were discovered, but were beyond the nature and the scope of this particular study.

APPENDIX: TABLES

Table 1: Dehumanization and Humanization Counts for White and Non-White Offenders

Race of Offender	Dehumanized	Humanized
White	24	10
Non-White	43	5

REFERENCES

- 'Bogus agent' rape suspect held. (1975, October 5). Los Angeles Times, p. B3.
- 'Lost-dog rapist' gets 61-year prison sentence. (1983, October 5). Los Angeles Times, p. SD_A5.
- 'Outstanding' doctor charged with raping several dozen women. (1982, September 23). *The Washington Post.* p. A4.
- 'Restroom rapist' hunted in attacks on 3 women. (1980, April 11). Los Angeles Times, p. SD10.
- 'Staunton rapist' given 20 years. (1980, February 8). The Washington Post, p. B5.
- 'White gloved rapist' gets a 50 year term. (1943, October 28). The Chicago Tribune, p. 2.
- 1 man sought in 4 rapes. *The Washington Post*, p. B2.
- 4 get terms in Fuller park sex offenses. (1949, March 15). The Chicago Tribune, p. 6.
- 4th victim names rape suspect. (1973, May 31). The Chicago Tribune, p. 4.
- 6 rape victims name ex-felon in complaints. (1947, December 22). The Chicago Tribune, p. 2.
- 7 rape victims identify one or both suspects. (1954, February 4). The Chicago Tribune, p. 5.
- 7-year-old girl kidnapped, released after rape. (1982, March 16). Los Angeles Times, p. C3.
- 10 women of the year become 10 to be stalked by a rapist. (1982, May 16). *The Washington Post*, p. A2.
- 11 girls accuse sex suspect; 2 call him rapist. (1949, September 29). *The Chicago Tribune*, p. B1.
- 150 police, Maccabees hunt rapist. (1964, November 11). The Washington Post, p. A3.
- 250 slim, mustached negroes questioned in hunt for rapist. (1964, November 15). *The New York Times*, p. 40.
- \$50,000 bail holds alleged assaulter of 200. (1961, November 11). The Boston Globe, p. 12.
- A jail guard is charged in six rapes since 1997. (1998, June 25). The New York Times, p. B6.
- Accused Gary lieutenant in Texas rapes. (1955, August 4). The Chicago Tribune, p. C4.
- Admits raping 5 and attempt on 6th victim. (1945, October 20). The Chicago Tribune, p. 8.

- Aduroja, G. (2003, October 22). Cops issue alert on suspect in north side sex assaults. *The Chicago Tribune*.
- Alexander, Michelle. 2012. *The New Jim Crow: Mass Incarceration in the Age of Colorblindness*. New York: The New Press.
- Allen, M. (1999, January 23). Rape on east side is tied to 3 attacks. *The New York Times*, p. B2.
- Amon, M. (2003, April 25). Charles county police lack leads in rapes. *The Washington Post*, p. B. 04.
- Angel, D. (1963, November 6). Physician surrenders on jury indictment. *Los Angeles Times*, p. F8.
- Anonymous signs warn area of rapist. (1981, September 24). Los Angeles Times, p. WS_A6.
- Another rape is linked to suspect in 2 attacks. (1999, January 21). The New York Times, p. B8.
- Another rape reported along Reston pathway. (1982, December 31). The Washington Post, p. B2.
- Arkansas man arrested in series of sex assaults. (1997, September 16). *The New York Times*, p. A18.
- Arkansas rapist threatens women and casts unwanted attention on some officers. (1996, February 12). *The New York Times*, p. B6.
- As she fights. (1951, November 21). The Chicago Tribune, p. 14.
- Aspen Hill rape suspect indicted. (1982, November 19). The Washington Post, p. A1.
- Assailant terrorizes Brooklyn. (1964, November 11). The Boston Globe, p. 19.
- Attack suspect arrested in Philippines. (2000, August 3). The Chicago Tribune.
- Aucoin, D. (1990, February 2). Police see similarities in rapes, robberies. *The Boston Globe*, p. 50.
- Backinski, E. J. (1971, July 13). Slain suspect kept diary of 29 assaults. *The Washington Post*, p. C1.
- Ball, M. (2001, August 12). Man charged in assault on girl, 13; Montgomery police seek link to 4 similar attacks on 5 teenagers. *The Washington Post*, p. D05.
- Bannning wife fights off hooded attacker. (1964, June 23). Los Angeles Times, p. 2.

- Barron, J. (1987, July 30). Security guard is held in 3 rapes and 4 burglaries on Staten Island. *The New York Times*, p. B3.
- Bauer, P. (1980, January 23). 2 wrongly arrested men free, third is held in Staunton rapes. *The Washington Post*, p. A1.
- Beach resident's arrest linked to series of rapes. (1988, September 25). *Los Angeles Times*, p. SD_A3.
- Berger, Peter L and Thomas Luckmann. 1966. The Social Construction of Reality: A Treatise in the Sociology of Knowledge. Garden City, NY: Doubleday
- Beyers, D. and Jennings, V. T. (1992, December 22). A few clues, a lot of effort brought break in rape case. *The Washington Post*, p. D1.
- Bid to reduce rape suspect's bond blocked. (1980, June 12). The Chicago Tribune, p. C1.
- Billiter, B. (1983, October 7). Girl's abductor is suspected in 2 other rapes. *Los Angeles Times*, p. OC_A1.
- Bishop, D. 2006. The myth that harsh punishments reduce juvenile crime. In R. Bohm and J Walker (Eds), *Demystifying Crime and Criminal Justice*. Los Angeles: Roxbury.
- Blair, J. (1999, June 27). Four rapes likely committed by same man, the police say. *The New York Times*, p. 23.
- Blair, J. (1999, June 28). Police arrest rape suspect, found hiding under a bed. *The New York Times*, p. B3.
- Blair, J. (2000, March 5). DNA matches help police arrest man in sex attacks. *The New York Times*, p. 37.
- Blankstein, A. (2003, October 26). Man is charged in string of rapes and kidnappings across the valley. *Los Angeles Times*.
- Blatchford, F. (1973, April 19). Campus walker used as lure for Evanston rapist. *The Chicago Tribune*, p. 1.
- Blau, L. (1987, February 28). Police seek serial rapist in eight attacks on women in two cities. *Los Angeles Times*, p. OC_A1.
- Blau, R. (1988, May 11). Police hunt rapist of 6 school girls. *The Chicago Tribune*, p. A2.
- Blau, R. (1988, July 8). South side man charged with rape of 7 children. *The Chicago Tribune*, p. B3.

- Blau, R. (1990, August 21). Ex-convict charged in assault. The Chicago Tribune.
- Blau, R. and Kendall, P. (1990, June 8). Austin is on patrol after rapes. *The Chicago Tribune*.
- Blumer, Herbert. 1969. Symbolic Interactionism: Perspective and Method. Englewood Cliffs: Prentice-Hall.
- Boettner, J. (1982, May 5). Refugee gets 70-year term in rape case. *Los Angeles Times*, p. OC_A1.
- Bowie man guilty of rape; Still faces 7 more trials. (1991, November 24). *The Washington Post*, p. b06.
- Boy attacker of four women gets 2-24 years. (1949, February 12). The Chicago Tribume, p. A4.
- Brick, M. (2007, October 23). Brooklyn: Rapist gets 20-year sentence. The New York Times.
- Brodt, B. (1982, June 11). Xavier campus rapist gets indefinite sentence. *The Chicago Tribune*, p. C7.
- Bronx man, 32, guilty of rapes in office towers, (1986, July 18). The New York Times, p. B3..
- Bronx man arrested in five sex attacks. (2002, May 26). The New York Times, p. 34.
- Brooklyn bride-to-be is raped by suspect in 4 other assaults. (1964, October 29). *The New York Times*, p. 70.
- Brown, C. (1980, March 1). Police get break in long search for the 'standard time rapist' *The Washington Post*, p. C1.
- Brown, D. (1981, February 5). 4 Vietnamese refugees convicted in rape case. *Los Angeles Times*, p. OC_A1.
- Buder, L. (1984, May 16). Rapist is sought for 12 attacks in east Flatbush. *The New York Times*, p. B4.
- Buder, L. (1987, December 10). Brooklyn rapist gets long term. The New York Times, p. B8.
- Burbank man to be arraigned on rape, burglary charges. (1979, November 29). *Los Angeles Times*, p. F27.
- Bureau of Justice Statistics. 2003. *The Number of Adults in the Correctional Population Has Been Increasing*. Washington, DC: Department of Justice.
- Bustillo, M. (1993, November 28). Trial to open for man accused of being serial rapist: Courts: Police say Jose Fuentes, who is charged in 14 assaults, attacked dozens of women. Some

- victims, mostly Latinas, were afraid to come forward, officers say. Los Angeles Times.
- Bustillo, M. (1993, December, 23). Man convicted in rapes of 12 women: Crime: Jose Romeo Fuentes is described as one of the worst serial rapists in the city's history. Convicted on 41 of 53 counts, he faces life in prison. *Los Angeles Times*.
- Byfield, Natalie P. 2014. *Savage Portrayals: Race, Media, and the Central Park Jogger Story*. Philadelphia: Temple University Press.
- Cabbie confesses 5 other attacks. (1959, December 25). The New York Times, p. 9.
- Cabby is indicted in 3 Queens rapes. (1972, December 28). The New York Times, p. 64.
- Campbell, C. 1995. Race, Myth and the News. Thousand Oaks: Sage.
- Candidates assail secrecy on rapes. (1966, August 17). The Washington Post, p. B2.
- Captured pupil admits rape attempts on 4. (1948, December 5). The Chicago Tribune, p. 45.
- Caravelis, Cyndy, Chiricos, Ted, Bales, William. 2011. Race, ethnicity, threat, and the designation of career offenders. *Justice Quarterly*, 30(5): 869-894.
- Cardenas, J. (1996, April 2). Suspected serial rapist arrested. Los Angeles Times.
- Cardenas, J. (2003, April 5). Rally targets elusive Hyperiod bridge rapist. Los Angeles Times.
- Career criminal is suspect in three rapes. (1998, October 11). The New York Times, p. CY11.
- Carson, E. Ann. (September, 2014) *Prisoners in 2013*. (Bureau of Justice Statistics No NCJ 247282). Washington DC: U.S. Department of Justice.
- Catvio, F. (2005, August 24). Md. man pleads guilty to rape; defendant says he committed other attacks, burglaries. The Washington Post, p. B. 03.
- Cawley, J. (1982, October 31). Doctor held as rapist a 'class guy'. The Chicago Tribune, p. 4.
- Cerven, J. (1990, November 27). Convicted rapist pleads guilty to five Will County sex attacks. *The Chicago Tribune*.
- Chambers, M. (1985, August 1). Man indicted in midtown sex attacks. *The New York Times*, p. B3.
- Chermak, S. 1994. Crime in the news media: A refined understanding of how crime becomes news. In G. Barak (Ed), *Media, Process, and Social Construction of Crime: Studies in News Making Criminology*. New York: Garland.

- Chermak, S. 1995. Predicting crime story salience: The effects of crime, victim, and defendant characteristics. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, 26: 61-70.
- Chermak, S. 1995. *Victims in the News: Crime and the American Media*. Boulder: Westview Press.
- Chicago burglar, rapist hangs self in cell at Menard. (1948, May 21). The Chicago Tribune, .2.
- Chiricos, T, Escholz, S. 2002. The racial and ethnic and typification of crime and the criminal typification of race and ethnicity in local television news. *Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency*, 39(4): 415-416.
- Chloroform rapist gets 102 years. (2008, January 12). The Los Angeles Times.
- Christian, S. (1991, March 11). 'Power rapist' terrorizing San Clemente: Crime: Sexual assault experts say the man who has committed five rapes since last October is not motivated by violence, but instead by an effort to compensate for feelings of inadequacy by exerting force. *Los Angeles Times*.
- Christie, N. (1986). The ideal victim'. In E. Fattah (Ed.), From crime policy to victim policy: Reorienting the justice system. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan
- Coakley, T. (1990, January 17). 6 police forces join hunt for robber-rapist. *The Boston Globe*, p. 17.
- Coakley, T. (1990, January 18). Area police say they suspect 1 man in 5 attacks on women. *The Boston Globe*, p. 29.
- Coast truck driver accused in 5 rapes indicted in Hudson. (1974, October 4). *The New York Times*, p. 84.
- Coates, J. (1970, November 14). Gold cost women report 3 attacks by masked rapist. *The Chicago Tribune*, p. N_A20.
- Coates, J. (1970, December 3). Police fear north side's 'Friday night rapist' may kill. *The Chicago Tribune*, p. A14.
- Coen, J. and Dardick, H. (2004, April 3). North side rape suspect charged in more attacks. *The Chicago Tribune*.
- Coen, J. (2004, April 30). Not guilty plea in serial rape case. The Chicago Tribune.
- Coen, J. (2004, May 20). Suspect linked to 6th attack. *The Chicago Tribune*.
- Coen, J. (2004, June 3). Rape victim tells jury of ordeal. *The Chicago Tribune*.

- Coen, J. (2004, November 23). 120-year sentence in 2nd rape. *The Chicago Tribune*.
- Collee student is exonerated of 3 rape charges in Queens. (1972, November 1). *The New York Times*, p. 93.
- College girl, 20, beaten by cabbie. (1959, December 23). The New York Times, p. 16.
- Collins, Rachel E. 2014. The construction of race and crime in Canadian print media: A 30-year analysis. *Criminology and Criminal Justice*, 14(1): 77-99.
- Confesses rape of 4 women, attempt on 5th in Chicago hts. (1945, October 17). *The Chicago Tribune*, p. 16.
- Connelly, M. (1988, November 8). Suspected park rapist faces lineup. Los Angeles Times, p. V8
- Connelly, M. (1988, November 9). Suspect freed in Sepulveda park rapes. *Los Angeles Times*, p. K11.
- Cooper, M. (1997, March 12). Police seek serial rapist in Brooklyn. *The New York Times*, p. B3.
- Cooper, M. (1998, August 4). Serial rape suspect is arrested in the Bronx. *The New York Times*, p. B5.
- Cops release new sketch of rape suspect. (2003, December 1). The Chicago Tribune.
- Cox, B. (2000, May 9). Man impersonating officer wanted in robberies, rape. The Chicago Tribune.
- Crane. J.P. (2003, November 8). Police warn public after 3 women assaulted. *The Boston Globe*, p. B. 4.
- Crane, J.P. (2005, February 19). Police seek suspect in assault on woman. The Boston Globe, p. B. 3.
- Criminal gets 15 life terms for sex crimes, (1966, August 9). Los Angeles Times, p. 3.
- Crockett, S. (1987, May 2). Fountain valley man faces rape charges. *Los Angeles Times*, p. OC_A5.
- Crossbow rape suspect held without bond. (1993, September 17). The Washington Post, p. B08.
- Crothers, L. 2007. Globalization and American Culture. Lanham: Rowman and Littlefield.
- Cummings, J. (1977, November 19). Police press hunt for youth suspected of two dozen Flatbush rapes. *The New York Times*, p. 25.

- Currier, P.A. (1985, October 9). 5th attack on women probed in Worcester. *The Boston Globe*, p. 25.
- D.C. rape suspect held in Atlanta. (1976, June 18). The Washington Post, p. C9.
- Daniels, L.A. (1991, April 1). Series of sexual attacks spreads fear in Flatbush. *The New York Times*, p. B3.
- Daniels, L. A. (1992, January 5). Man sought in rape of 5 women in three Queens neighborhoods. *The New York Times*, p. 21.
- Darling, L. (1976, December 4). Suspect hunted in 7 area rapes, abductions. *The Washington Post*, p. B1.
- Davis, P. (1992, October 2). Maintenance worker' rapist sought; N. V.A. police think one man has been entering houses on ruse. *The Washington Post*, p. d07.
- Decker, C. (1978, April 5). 'Pillowcase' rape suspect clubbed, then arrested. *Los Angeles Times*, p. B3.
- Defendant, 16, held to jury on 3 charges of attempted rape. (1948, December 16). *The Chicago Tribune*, p. 25.
- Defendant in 115 'ski mask rapist' attacks convicted. (1989, March 8). Los Angeles Times, p. 24
- Dentist faces rape charges after arrest. (1969, August 17). The Chicago Tribune, p. A10.
- Dentist ruled incompetent. (1969, November 8). The Chicago Tribune, p. S16.
- Divorcee raped after seizure in rail station. (1952, February 7). The Chicago Tribune, p. 3.
- Dixon, T. 2007. Black criminals and white officers: The effects of racially misrepresenting law breakers and law defenders on television news. *Media Psychology*, 10: 270-291.
- Doctor convicted of rapes is sentenced to 665 years. (1983, September 24). *The Washington Post*, p. A2.
- Doctor gets 191 years in prison for 21 rapes. (1983, September 24). The Chicago Tribune, p. 3.
- Doctor gets 665 years in jail for 7-year rape spree. (1982, September 23). *Los Angeles Times*, p. A2.
- Doctor indicted on 36 counts of raping women in homes. (1982, September 23). *The Boston Globe*, p. 1.
- Doctor to try for new trial after verdict. (1964, March 9). Los Angeles Times, p. E8.

- Doctor wins dismissal of rape charge. (1964, May 2). Los Angeles Times, p. D8.
- Dodson, M. (1987, April 30). Police canine spots a rape suspect hiding behind bushes. *Los Angeles Times*, p. OC_A1.
- Donato, M. (1994, March 24). Concern over rapist centers on a blue van. *The Chicago Tribune*.
- Dorr, Lisa L. 2004. *White Women, Rape, and the Power of Race in Virginia, 1900-1960.* Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.
- Dougherty, K. (1981, January 1). Police launch search for man suspected of 4 Arlington rapes. *The Washington Post*, p. VA5.
- Dowler, K. 2006. Sex, lies, and videotape: The presentation of sex crime in local television news. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, 34(4): 383-392.
- Duggan, P. (1991, October 19). Md. rape defendant was abused as child, sister and psychiatrist testify. *The Washington Post*, p. a15.
- Duggan, P. (1993, February 11). Serial rapist is sought in daylight D.C. attacks. *The Washington Post*, p. C1.
- Dvorak, T. and Wattley, P. (1981, June 25). Rape suspect's bond \$1 million. *The Chicago Tribune*, p.5.
- Ehrlich, Edward J. 2009. *Hate Crimes and Ethnoviolence: The History, Current Affairs, and Future of Discrimination in America*. Philadelphia: Perseus Book Group.
- Elias, P. (1995, November 1). Man gets 62 years for Ojai Valley assaults. Los Angeles Times.
- Eliasson-Nannini, Janelle, Deidre Sommerlad-Rogers, Christopher Bradley, and Benjamin Pearson-Nelson. 2010. The Social Construction of Serial Murder Victims: A Content Analysis of Newspaper Coverage. *Sociological Imagination*, 46: 44-64.
- Ellement, J. (2002, January 5). Serial rapist leaves Dorchester residents on edge. *The Boston Globe*, p. B. 1.
- Emmerman, L. and Unger, R. (1982, March 12). College student raped in dorm. *The Chicago Tribune*, p. 3.
- Engle, M. and Whitaker, J.D. (1982, November 7). Md. suspect faces two rape charges. *The Washington Post*, p. C1..
- Englewood rapes prompt warning. (1997, February 15). The Chicago Tribune.

- Escobar, G. (1991, February 13). D.C. police look for help in catching rape suspect; Four women assaulted in NW apartments. *The Washington Post*, p. d08.
- Escobar, G. (1991, March 9). Rape in NW believed to be part of a string of 5. *The Washington Post*, p. b03.
- Estrich, Susan. 1987. Real Rape. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Evanston plans more police in hunt for rapist. (1945, August 19). The Chicago Tribune, p. 16.
- Ex-college student gets term as rapist. (1966, March 31). The New York Times, p. 25.
- Ex-guard gets 60-year sentence. (1983, December 23). The Chicago Tribune, p. N_A3.
- Ex-Menard inmate held in rape quiz. (1970, December 12). The Chicago Tribune, p. N7.
- Ex-officer wins hearing in sex misconduct case. (1984, December 6). *Los Angeles Times*, p. OC_A2.
- Ex-spa worker denies crimes against women. (1971, February 2). Los Angeles Times, p. D6.
- Ex-track star admits to 30 assault cases. (1965, June 13). Los Angeles Times, p. A8.
- Extradition proceedings begun on coast for suspect in 5 rapes. (1974, October 2). *The New York Times*, p. 99.
- Fahim, K. and Rashbau, W. K. (2005, June 25). 3 sexual assault cases may be linked to ones in New Jersey. *The New York Times*.
- Farr, B. (1978, November 9). 'Pillowcase rapist' guilty on 25 counts. *Los Angeles Times*, p. OC_A22.
- Farr, B. (1982, August 27). Mystery surrounds rape suspect. Los Angeles Times, p. SD_A3.
- Farr, W. (1973, February 14). Convicted rapist gets 38-year-to-life term. *Los Angeles Times*, p. 26.
- Federal Bureau of Investigation. 2014. 2014 Crime in the United States. Criminal Justice Information Services Division. Washington DC.
- Feeney, S. (1983, June 21). Reston man, 22, is indicted in 3rd rape case. *The Washington Post*, p. C5.
- Felon quizzed in murder, 20 rapes, thefts. (1966, February 2). The Chicago Tribune, p. B12.
- Ferris, J. (1994, April 22). South shore on alert for rape suspect. The Chicago Tribune

- Fields C. and Jerin B. 1999. The media and the criminal justice system. In R. Muraskin and A. Roberts (Eds). *Visions For Change: Justice and the Twenty-first Century*. Upper Saddle River: Prentice Hall.
- Finder, A. (1996, June 16). Man held in Queens 'elevator rapist' case. *The New York Times*, p. 29.
- Firor, C. (1980, August 15). 4 Vietnamese refugees held in rapes. Los Angeles Times, p OC_A8.
- Fisher, Bonnie S., Daigle, Leah E., & Cullen, Francis T. 2009. *Unsafe in the Ivory Tower: The Sexual Victimization of College Women*. Los Angeles: Sage.
- Fisher, Bonnie S., Francis T. Cullen, Michael G. Turner. (December, 2000). *The sexual victimization of college women*. (Bureau of Justice Statistics No. NCJ 182369). Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice.
- Five identify ex-convict in sex attacks. (1956, June 11). The Chicago Tribune, p. A7.
- Foderaro, L.W. (1986, July 14). East side rapes tied to one man. The New York Times, p. B6.
- Foderaro, L. W. (1991, February 25). From stately Forrest Hills, anxiety over sex attacks. *The New York Times*, p. B1.
- Foreman, J. (1983, August 18). Rape-plagued area is promised help. *The Boston Globe*, p. 1.
- Fosburgh, L. (1971, August 31). Youth, 19, gets 25-year term in 13 robbery and rape cases. *The New York Times*, p. 39.
- Four suspected gang members held in violent crime spree. (1997, August 16). Los Angeles Times
- Fox, James Alan, Levin, Jack, Quinet, Kenna. 2012. *The Will to Kill: Making Sense of Senseless Murder* 4th edition. Upper Saddle River: Pearson
- Fradkin, P. (1966, July 26). Girl's killer linked to eight other attacks. Los Angeles Times, p. A1/
- Fraser, C. G. (1973, October 2). Murder suspect held in 4th rape. *The New York Times*, p. 35.
- Frazier will have hearing continued. (1964, April 3). Los Angeles Times, p. G8.
- French, H.W. (1986, December 6). Suspect in a series of rapes is seized at BMT stakeout. *The New York Times*, p. 31.
- Frisch, S. (1997, November 7). Wheeling woman is latest assault victim. *The Chicago Tribune*.
- Fugitive admits attack in taxicab. (1947, February 26). The New York Times, p. 52.

- G.I. gets 30 years on 3 rape charges. (1960, October 1). The Chicago Tribune, p. 5.
- Galvan, M. and Wattley, P. (1980, June 11). Northbrook man charged in rape. *The Chicago Tribune*, p. C8.
- Garrison, J. (2000, February 25). Fear spreading after assaults on students. Los Angeles Times
- Gets 199 years as rape-killer, denies guilt. (1957, July 10). The Chicago Tribune, p. 13.
- Girl is 7th rape victim. (1965, October 11). *The Chicago Tribune*, p. D5.
- Girl molested; Lured to park by degenerate. (1953, January 4). The Chicago Tribune, p. 47.
- Gomez, J. M. and Paulson, W. (1991, March 7). Rapist's 5th assault stuns San Clemente: Crime: A young woman is attacked while alone in her home near San Clemente's Pier Bowl area. Police, still baffled, beef up their investigation. *Los Angeles Times*.
- Gorney, C. (1975, December 22). Laundry room rapist still at large. The Washington Post, p. B1.
- Gootman, E. (2000, October 19). DNA tests link sexual attacks on girls in Queens to one man. *The New York Times*, p. B12.
- Graham, N. (1981, June 14). 15 roberry-rapes tied to one man by police. *Los Angeles Times*, p. WS11.
- Granberry, M. (1989, March 19). Two San Carlos women used their feet and flyers to warn community of rapist. *Los Angeles Times*, p. J1B.
- Grant, G. (1967, March 5). Fear filled long hunt for rapist of children. *Los Angeles Times*, p. SF_A1.
- Great lakes cook indicted in rape case. (1959, December 8). The Chicago Tribune, p. B7.
- Greenfield, L.A. 1997. Sex offenses and offenders. Washington, DC: Bureau of Justice Statistics.
- Greer, C. 2006. Delivering death: Capital punishment, botched executions, and the American news media. In P. Mason (Ed), *Captured by the Media: Prison Discourse in Popular Culture*. Devon: Willan Publishing
- Gregg, S.R. and Vobejda, B. (1984, October 6). P.G. police seek attacker in Riverdale road area. *The Washington Post*, p. C3.
- Gregg, S.R. (1985, April 7). P.G. police continue hunt for 2 men in series of rapes. *The Washington Post*, p. C8.

- Gregg, S.R. and Chappell, K. (1985, March 14). Boys, girls victims of rapists in P.G. *The Washington Post*, p. A1.
- Gregg, S.R. and Marcus, R. (1985, March 18). Fear, anger spread in 2 P.G. communities as rapes continue. *The Washington Post*, p. E1.
- Griffith, S. (1991, September 24). D.C. man faces life for Arlington rapes. *The Washington Post*, p. b01.
- Griffith, S. (1992, October 22). Worker' assaults Arlington woman; Sexual attack linked to other repairman rapes in Virginia. *The Washington Post*, p. b08.
- Hadley, S. (1996, November 27). Youth held in series of sexual assaults. Los Angeles Times.
- Hairdresser goes to trial on first of 3 rape charges. (1964, December 1). *The Washington Post*, p. C3.
- Hairdresser indicted on rape counts. (1964, August 4). The Washington Post, p. B2.
- Hamilton, E. (1990, August 7). Police seek help in finding rapist. Los Angeles Times.
- Hanley, R. (1977, November 1). Descriptions vary for robber-rapist. *The New York Times*, p. 79.
- Hanley, R. (1977, November 10). Berge rape suspect out on bail; Officials now doubt strength of case. *The New York Times*, p. 34.
- Hanley, R. (1978, February 4). Suspect is cleared in Jersey rape case. The New York Times, p. 23
- Hanna, J. (2000, August 11). Prosecutor details series of attacks against women. *The Chicago Tribune*.
- Harriston, K. (1986, June 12). Hyattsville man is charged with 6 sexual assaults in P.G. *The Washington Post*, p. B11.
- Hayasaki, E. and Landsberg, M. (2002, December 16). Sexual predator is stalking Los Feliz area schoolgirls. Los Angeles Times.
- Hayes, J. (1959, December 3). Rapist admits n. shore attacks. *The Chicago Tribune*, p. 1.
- Hayes, J. (1959, December 4). Rapist named in 8th case in Lake County. *The Chicago Tribune*, p. D8.
- Hazelwood, Robert R. & Janet Warren. 1990. The criminal behavior of the serial rapist. *Polygraph*, 19: 139-146.

- He's going to strike again. (2004, February 11). The Chicago Tribune.
- Healey, J. (2002, July 31). Residents race to fend off attacker enraged north enders long to feel safe again. The Boston Globe, p. B. 1.
- Hedges, Chris. 2009. *Empire of Illusion: The End of Literacy and the Triumph of Spectacle*. New York: Nation Books.
- Held in attack, admits 20 more women victims. (1943, May 2). The Chicago Tribune, p. 19.
- Held to grand jury on 11 robbery, 5 rape charges. (1947, October 11). *The Chicago Tribune*, p. 24.
- Hermosa police mobilize community to nab rapist. (1979, November 8). *Los Angeles Times*, p. CS3.
- Hernandez Jr., E. (1995, November 16). Jury finds man sane during sexual assaults: Courts: Decision means Howard Davis Jr. could be sentenced to life in prison for attacks on four women and a 10-year-old girl. *Los Angeles Times*.
- Hevesi, D. (1995, January 8). Rapist attacking women in Queens and robbing them at A.T.M.'s. *The New York Times*, p. 40.
- Hickey, Eric. 2013. Serial Murderers and Their Victims 6th edition. Belmont: Wadsworth.
- Hicks, J. (1984, January 24). Officer charged with rape had been cited in sex assault. *Los Angeles Times*, p. OC_A1.
- Hicks, J. (1988, March 31). Rape suspect went uncharged despite 4 reports to police. *Los Angeles Times*, p. AE3.
- Hicks, J. (1989, January 13). 'Good-looking guy' found guilty of rapes, assaults. *Los Angeles Times*, p. OC_A1.
- Hicks, J. (1989, April 15). O.C. rapist who 'hunted' women gets 79-year term. *Los Angeles Times*, p. OC1.
- Hinds, M. d. (1993, January 30). Rape and racial tension tear at town. The New York Times, p. 7.
- Holguin, R. (1988, January 21). Police say 6 rape cases may be related. *Los Angeles Times*, p. LB6.
- Holmes, Ronald M., Holmes, Stephen T. 2010. Serial Murder 3rd edition. Thousand Oaks: Sage
- Holstein, James A. and Jaber F. Gubrium. 2000. The Self We Live By: Narrative Identity in a Postmodern World. New York, NY: Oxford University Press

- Holt, D. (1997, November 11). Serial rapist's 'signature' is a pattern of perplexity. *The Chicago Tribune*.
- Hooded prowler chased from woman's home. (1964, July 22). Los Angeles Times, p. A1.
- Horowitz, E. 2007. Growing media and legal attention to sex offenders: More safety or more injustice? *Journal of the Institute of Justice and International Studies*, 7: 143-158.
- Houston man suspected in up to 8 rapes. (1992, November 1). The Washington Post, p. a10.
- Huff-Corzine, Lin, James C. McCutcheon, Jay Corzine, John P. Jarvis, Melissa J. Tetzlaff-Bemiller, Mindy Weller, and Matt Landon. Shooting for accuracy: comparing data sources on mass murder. *Homicide Studies*, 18: 105-124.
- Ifill, G. (1985, April 16). Landover man questioned in series of rapes. *The Washington Post*, p. B1.
- Igler, M. (1985, June 28). Rape linked to 15 others, police say. Los Angeles Times, p. V_A6.
- Igler, M. (1986, January 24). Sepulveda man charged with 11 rapes. *Los Angeles Times*, p. V_A11.
- Immigrant pleads guilty to series of Md. rapes. (1986, March 4). The Washington Post, p.C5.
- Jackman, T. (1999, February 23). Similarities seen in 4 sex attacks in Reston; Friday assault follows 3 last fall. *The Washington Post*, p. B07.
- Jackman, T. (1999, September 2). Sex assault victim could be 6th of 'Reston rapist,' Fairfax police say. *The Washington Post*, p. B07.
- Jackman, T. (2005, October 11). 3 attacks near Va. metro linked; police suspect one man in 2 rapes, assault by Dunn Loring. *The Washington Post*, p. B. 03.
- Jackman, T. (2006, March 14). Nine sexual assaults across region linked; 8 victims were hotel housekeepers. *The Washington Post*, p. B. 02.
- James, G. (1988, October 20). Man convicted of rape on DNA evidence. *The New York Times*, p. B1.
- James, G. (1991, March 3). Man held in Forest Hills sex attacks. The New York Times, p. 41.
- James, G. (1991, March 4). Forest Hills rape arrest eases fears. The New York Times, p. B3.
- James, G. (1991, April 5). 17-year-old seized in rapes in Flatbush. The New York Times, p. B1.

- Janitor tells rape slaying near u. of c. (1957, April 22). The Chicago Tribune, p. 1.
- Jay, P.A. (1966, August 13). Masked rapist of 26 sought a year in suburb. *The Washington Post*, p. A1.
- Jay, P.A. (1967, May 25). Virginia convict testifies in masked rapist case. *The Washington Post*, p. A3.
- Jenkins, P. 1998. *Moral Panic: Changing concepts of the Child Molester in Modern America*. New Haven: Yale University Press.
- Jennings, V. T. (1991, January 5). Bowie rape suspect may be linked to 17 assaults; Plumber's assistant arrested in Potomac, charged in Nov. 20 attack on Olney woman. *The Washington Post*, p. b03.
- Jennings, V. T. (1991, February 25). Luck, 'darn good' police work cited in Md. serial rape case. *The Washington Post*, p. D3.
- Jennings, V.T. (1991, May 29). Silver Springs rape linked to 5 others; Montgomery assaults began in December. *The Washington Post*, p. d05.
- Jeter, J. (1993, September 15). Rape suspect said to seek profit in terror. *The Washington Post*, p. A1.
- Jeter, J. (1994, August 10). In 'crossbow rapist' trial, DNA links suspect, victim, scientist testifies. *The Washington Post*, p. b02.
- Jeter, J. (1994, August 13). P.G. 'crossbow' suspect guilty of rape, burglary. *The Washington Post*, p. d01.
- Jewell, D.A. (1968, October 9). Rapist Kent is granted further care. *The Washington Post*, p. C1.
- Jewkes, Y. 2004. Media and Crime. Thousand Oaks: Sage.
- Johnston, D. (1982, May 14). Suspect in 10 'lost dog rapist' crimes identified by police. *Los Angeles Times*, p. SD_A3.
- Johnston, L. (1973, April 26). Suspect in 6 rapes here is sentenced for robbery. *The New York Times*, p. 47.
- Johnston, L. (1988, January 29). Businessman charged with rape, assault. *Los Angeles Times*, p. AB3.
- Judge bars rape witnesses from identifying assailant. (1971, April 13). *The Chicago Tribune*, p. A8.

- Jury finds Gallagher guilty of girl assault. (1949, January 20). The Boston Globe, p. 14.
- Kaufman, M. T. (1973, May 16). Substitute teacher seized in east side rapes; sent to Bellevue after allegedly admitting 25 assaults. *The New York Times*, p. 32.
- Kiesling, D. (1992, August 27). Doctor gets 20 years for office rape. The Chicago Tribune
- Kistler, R. (1975, September 13). 'Trademark,' memory land a suspect in jail. *Los Angeles Times*, p. 1.
- Klaidman, S. (1976, February 20). 3d rape in GW garage stirs students. *The Washington Post*, p. C1.
- Klein, P. (1985, April 11). Police search for rapist who has struck 11 times. *Los Angeles Times*, p. V_A8.
- Klunder, J. (1986, May 23). Trial ordered after rape victims hear accused's voice. *Los Angeles Times*, p. V_A11.
- Klunder, J. (1987, July 11). Chiropractor's rape trial goes to jury. Los Angeles Times, p. V_A9.
- Klunder, J. (1987, July 18). Chiropractor is found guilty of molesting 3 women patients. *Los Angeles Times*, p. V_A6.
- Knife assailant admits 4 rapes; 57 burglaries. (1953, March 10). The Chicago Tribune, p. 14.
- Knife-rapist sentenced or robbery also. (1953, July 16). The Chicago Tribune, p. 7.
- Knife wielder rapes woman on north side. (1953, January 10). The Chicago Tribune, p. A5.
- Knott, A. and Cawley, J. (1981, June 24). Some victims identify 'motel rapist' suspect. *The Chicago Tribune*, p. 3.
- Kopetman, R. (1986, May 9). Series of rapes, burglaries makes fear a neighbor for elderly. *Los Angeles Times*, p. OC_A10.
- Kopetman, R. (1991, May 30). Serial rapist sought for attacks in affluent area of Long Beach. *Los Angeles Times*.
- Koziol, R. (1964, January 31). Rapes 3 women, abducts a 4th; Seized in manhunt. *The Chicago Tribune*, p. 1.
- Koziol, R. (1967, July 16). Detectives wove slim clews into tight trap for 'phantom'. *The Chicago Tribune*, p. 12.
- Koziol, R. (1989, May 16). Crest Hill rape linked to 3 Bolingbrook cases. The Chicago Tribune,

- p. 6S.
- Koziol, R. (1990, January 8). Suspect in 5 Will rapes held in Georgia. *The Chicago Tribune*.
- Koziol, R. (1992, July 23). Indiana police join hunt for child attacker. *The Chicago Tribune*
- Kraus, Elizabeth, Auer, Carolin. 2000. *Simulacrum America: The USA and the Popular Media*. Rochester: Camden House.
- Kridel, K. (2008, February 8). Man guilty in serial rape case. The Chicago Tribune.
- Krikorian, M. (2003, June 13). DNA shows one man committed 10 valley attacks. Los Angeles Times.
- Krogstad, Jens Manuel & Lopez, Mark Hugo. 2015. Hispanic population reaches record 55 million, but growth has cooled. Retrieved from http://www.pewresearch.org/facttank/2015/06/25/u-s-hispanic-population-growth-surge-cools/ on July 10, 2016.
- Lacking evidence, man freed in Florida rapes. (1998, August 14). The Chicago Tribune.
- Langer, P. (1994, May 13). Search launched in Braintree sex assault. *The Boston Globe*, p. 25.
- Larcombe, Wendy. 2002. The 'ideal' victim v successful rape complainants: Not what you might expect. *Feminist Legal Studies*, 10: 131-148.
- Larkin, A. (1973, January 7). Stoneham hunts rapist. *The Boston Globe*, p. 33.
- Latour, F. (2002, January 23). East Boston guard arraigned in t attacks. *The Boston Globe*, p. B. 2.
- Lauritsen, J., Heimer, K., Lynch, J. 2009. Trends in the gender gap in violent offending: New evidence from the national crime victimization survey. *Criminology*, 47(2): 361-399.
- LeDuff, C. (2002, November 12). Serial rapist is believed captured in California. *The New York Times*, p. A16.
- Leff, L. (1988, December 15). Police hunt two suspects in five Anne Arundel rapes. *The Washington Post*, p. B11.
- Lee, J. H. (1991, June 1). 22-year old suspect is arrested in series of Long Beach rapes: Crime: The man is being investigated in a number of attacks in the Belmont Heights neighborhood. *Los Angeles Times*.
- Leiber, M.J., Blowers, A.N. 2003. Race and misdemeanor sentencing. *Criminal Justice Policy Review*, 14: 464-485.

- Leovy, J. (2003, June 24). Serial rapist still at large. Los Angeles Times.
- Lewis, A.E. (1966, March 22). Hours of work and lab study link suspect to four Georgetown rapes. *The Washington Post*, p. A1.
- Lie test finding unfavorable to rape suspect. (1951, April 3). The Chicago Tribune, p. 5.
- Lindgren, K. (1980, February 12). Suspect in 9 rapes faces 4 new counts. *Los Angeles Times*, p. C1.
- Lindgren, K. (1980, February 14). Long, frustrating chase of rapist recounted. *Los Angeles Times*, p. CS1.
- Lindgren, K. (1984, June 26). Policeman's sexual assault trial opens. *Los Angeles Times*, p. OC_A1.
- Little, P. (1987, October 13). Police seek 'bold' serial rapist linked to 11 attacks. *Los Angeles Times*, p. SD_E1.
- Lon Beach: Suspect pleads not guilty in Belmont Heights rapes. (1991, June 13). *Los Angeles Times*.
- Lueck, T. (2001, July 18). An arrest in 6 attacks on women in Brooklyn. *The New York Times*, p. B4.
- Maitland, L. (1977, May 24). 7 rape victims identify youth they all feared to see again. *The New York Times*, p. 73.
- Man charged in sex attacks on three women in Queens. (1987, July 27). *The New York Times*, p. B3.
- Man charged with 4 rapes was on parole. (1995, December 7). The New York Times, p. B8.
- Man faces sex charges. (1993, August 28). The Washington Post, p. D07.
- Man gets 3 years, \$1500 fine for assaults on women. (1943, May 26). *The Washington Post*, p. 3.
- Man sentenced in New Carrollton metro stop rapes. (1986, January 28). *The Washington Post*, p. B5.
- Man who allegedly posed as doctor held in rapes. (1994, December 13). Los Angeles Times.
- Mann, B. (1972, January 27). Mechanic, 23, charged n rape cases. Los Angeles Times, p. SG10
- Marantz, S. (1985, September 26). Man sought for 3 rapes; 4 rape attempts are also reported near

- the Charles. *The Boston Globe*, p. 25.
- Marcus, E. (1992, January 14). Montgomery police say tests link 9 rapes. *The Washington Post*, p. B1.
- Markham, J.M. (1972, November 11). 'Look-alike' seized, youth, 17, held in 4 rapes, is freed. *The New York Times*, p. NJ69.
- Marriott, M. (1989, January 16). Man sought in 7 sex attacks in subways. *The New York Times*, p. B1.
- Masters, B. A. (1993, February 17). Suspect sought in 1 of 5 similar D.C. sexual assaults. *The Washington Post*, p. D03.
- Masterson, K. (2004, January 8). Cops still hunting predator. *The Chicago Tribune*.
- Masterson, K. (2004, March 23). Other rapist still at large, police warn. *The Chicago Tribune*.
- Masterson, K. (2004, April 22). Groups spread the word about sexual assault. *The Chicago Tribune*.
- Mastro, Dana, Lapinski, Maria Knight, Kopacz, Maria A., Behm-Morawitz, Elizabeth. The influence of exposure to depictions of race and crime in tv news on viewer's social judgements. *Journal of Broadcasting and Electronic Media*, 53(4): 615-635.
- Maxwell, Christopher D., Robinson, Amanda L., Post, Lori A. 2003. The impact of race on the adjudication of sexual assault and other violent crimes. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, 31: 523-538.
- McCabe, M. (1980, March 27). Rape suspect slain in home invasion. The Chicago Tribune, p. 3.
- McNeil, E. (1983, August 18). Cops say elusive rapist may have attacked again. *The Chicago Tribune*, p. NW_A1.
- Md. man sentenced to hang in rape cases. (1944, February 18). The Washington Post, p. 3.
- Mead, George H. and Charles W. Morris eds.1934. Mind, Self, & Society: from the Standpoint of a Social Behaviorist. Chicago, IL: The University of Chicago Press
- Merrifield, B. (1990, November 20). Judge won't bar confession of Will County rape suspect. *The Chicago Tribune*.
- Meyer, H.G. (2004, February 10). 7th rape brings police warning. *The Chicago Tribune*.
- Miami police arrest suspect in serial rapes. (2003, September 21). The Washington Post, p. A07.

- Miller, B. (1994, May 25). Police link assaults on Virginia girls; Suspect is sought in rapes, abductions going back five years. *The Washington Post*, p. a01.
- Mitchell, Ojmarrh, Caudy, Michael S. 2013. Examining racial disparities in drug arrests. *Justice Quarterly*, 32(2): 288-313.
- Montgomery, D. and Melillc, W. (1996, April 27). Manhunt underway for serial rapist in Pr. George's. *The Washington Post*, p. B1.
- Montgomery 'real estate' rape probed. (1974, June 13). The Washington Post, p. A19.
- Mooar, B. (1996, August 7). Montgomery police warn of possible serial rapist. *The Washington Post*, p. D6.
- Moore, M. (1982, December 22). Fairfax county police hold Virginia man in rapes in Reston. *The Washington Post*, p. B8.
- Moore, M. (1983, January 12). Man freed of Resto rape charge. The Washington Post, p. C5.
- Moore, M. (1983, March 22). Official says indictment ends probe of Reston rapes. *The Washington Post*, p. B1.
- Moore, M. (1983, May 11). Reston man convicted of rape, robbery. *The Washington Post*, p. C8.
- Moore, M. (1983, September 27). Three-time Va. rapist still has parole chance. *The Washington Post*, p. B5.
- Moore, S. (1999, August 8). Car of man believed to be serial rapist is identified. *Los Angeles Times*.
- Morang, J. and Elsener, J. (1973, October 31). Cemetery rape suspect seized. *The Chicago Tribune*, p. 1.
- Moreau, T. (2000, September 22). Santa Ana hunts serial rapist. Los Angeles Times
- Morrison, P. (1980, August 21). 3 viet refugees arraigned in connection with 6 rapes. *Los Angeles Times*, p. OC_A1.
- Motel-row rapist gets 36 years. (1982, September 22). The Chicago Tribune, p. A20.
- Mother of two tells attack in rape trial. (1951, June 7). The Chicago Tribune, p. S10.
- Mrozek, T. (1994, June 7). Rape suspect faces 37 felony charges in 4 abductions. *Los Angeles Times*.
- Mrozek, T. (1994, June 8). Judge refuses to lower rape suspect's \$2-million bail: Crime: Police

officer's son is accused of assaulting four women and girls in the valley. *Los Angeles Times*.

Murphy, S.P. (2003, August 19). Unmasked attacker challenges profilers most serial rapists conceal their identity. *The Boston Globe*, p. B. 1.

Myers, L. (1987, July 9). Doctor gets 10 years in sexual-assault case. *The Chicago Tribune*, p. A2.

Myers, L. (1991, July 4). Armed man hunted in north side rapes. The Chicago Tribune.

Nab assailant; 4 women name him as rapist. (1952, November 1). The Chicago Tribune, p. 10.

Nab south side 'terror rapist'. (1943, August 21). The Chicago Tribune, p. 1.

New attack in Arkansas by 'blue light' rapist. (1997, July 14). The New York Times, p. B9.

New charge for rape suspect. (2004, May 20). The Chicago Tribune.

New charges filed in series of rapes. (1980, August 28). Los Angeles Times, p. OC_A8.

North shore cops seeking assailants of 3. (1966, December 8). The Chicago Tribune, p. C18.

North side rape suspect denied bond. (1990, August 22). The Chicago Tribune.

O'Brien, J. (1969, August 16). Dentist held in rape of his patients. The Chicago Tribune, p. S1.

O'Connor, M. (1989, January 20). 'Dreadlock rapist' suspect guilty. *The Chicago Tribune* p. N5.

O'Connor, M. (1989, March 14). 'Dreadlock' rape suspect gets 25 years in '86 attack. *The Chicago Tribune*, p. S5.

O'donnell, M. (2006, February 2). Metro briefing New York: Brooklyn: Rapist south. *The New York Times*, p. 6.

Ohio doctor accused of 36 rapes; Man jailed for 2 of them is freed. (1982, September 24). *The New York Times*, p. A16.

Ohio doctor sentenced to 191 years for rapes. (1983, September 25). The New York Times, p. 40.

Omaha magazine's honorees stalked. (1982, May 16). Los Angeles Times, p. A1.

One man is linked to three sex attacks. (1989, November 24). The New York Times, p. B18.

One man sought in 7 rapes in 3-block Rogers Park area. (1976, September 10). The Chicago

- Tribune, p. A8.
- Onishi, N. (1994, May 27). Police say rape of 6-year-old fits pattern of other assaults. *The New York Times*, p. B3.
- Pace, E. (1991, February 28). Girl, 17, is accosted by a man suspected in rapes in Queens. *The New York Times*, p. B6.
- Paegel, T. (1978, March 8). Rapist linked to more than 150 cases attacks again. *Los Angeles Times*, p. D1.
- Paige, C. and Cramer, M. (2005, May 6). Alleged sexual assault in Stow prompts townside search. *The Boston Globe*, p. B. 3.
- Paroled rapist is convicted in 4 attacks in Brooklyn. (1997, October 30). *The New York Times*, p. B2.
- Partlow, J. (2005, January 19). Police have suspect in attacks; man, 37, charged in Mongtomery rape. *The Washington Post*, p. B01.
- Perez, R. (1986, May 1). Police hoping sketch aids in finding rapist. *Los Angeles Times*, p. OC_A3.
- Perlmutter, E. (1965, June 13). College student is held in rape of 30 young girls in 18 months. *The New York Times*, p. 1.
- Perry, B. and Sutton, M. 2006. Seeing red over black and white: Popular media representations of inter-racial relationships as precursors to racial violence. *Canadian Journal of Criminology and Criminal Justice*, 48(6): 887-904.
- Petersilia, Joan. 1985. Racial disparities in the criminal justice system: A summary. *Crime & Delinquency*, 31(1): 15-34.
- Pfeifer, S. (2003, September 26). Sex offender arrested in San Clemente. The Los Angeles Times
- P.G. 'crossbow' suspect indicted on 44 counts. *The Washington Post*, p. D04.
- Phalon, R. (1974, May 24). A series of rapes chills 3d ward in Englewood. *The New York Times*, p. 71.
- Philadelphia rape suspect is seized. (1979, December 12). The Chicago Tribune, p. 5.
- Phuong, L. (2001, August 14). No bond for man charged in Md. assaults; suspect did not know 4 teenage girls, might have dyed hair, prosecutors say. *The Washington Post*, p. B. 3.
- Pierre-Pierre, G. (1995, February 26). A.T.M. rape suspect arrested. *The New York Times*, p. 32.

Platte, M. (1991, August 17). Officer suspected of rape probably new of stakeouts: Crime: Despite his likely knowledge of San Diego police activity, investigators believe he committed a series of crimes at beaches. *Los Angeles Times*

Platte, M. (1992, March 6). DNA links ex-officer to series of rapes: Crime: D.A. asserts that Samples taken from Henry Hubbard Jr. and evidence involving a string of rapes and Robberies committed last summer positively match. *Los Angeles Times*.

Police arrest rape suspect on gold coast. (1970, March 14). The Chicago Tribune, p. W_B24.

Police chief's husband held in campus rape. (1993, January 13). The New York Times, p. A14.

Police continue search for east Harlem rapist. (1999, December 3). The New York Times, p. B14.

Police hunt for rapist in 7 north side attacks. (1964, March 1). The Chicago Tribune, p. 12.

Police hunt N.W. side rapist. (1969, March 28). The Chicago Tribune, p. B24.

Police hunt suspect in series of rapes. (1974, January 26). The Chicago Tribune, p. N_C12.

Police in Gary seeking rapist in 6 attacks. (1993, July 15). The Chicago Tribune.

Police link 3 sex attacks. (2004, December 22). The Chicago Tribune

Police link rape suspect in Brooklyn to 8 cases. (1964, December 12). The New York Times, p. 64

Police link suspect to a series of rapes and other assaults. (1990, February 20). *The New York Times*, p. B2.

Police obtain 5 identifications of sex suspect. (1953, January 12). The Chicago Tribune, p. 2.

Police pressing hunt for Georgetown rapist. (1965, August 16). The Washington Post, p. B2.

Police release sketch of man sought in rapes. (1986, November 27). *Los Angeles Times*, p. OC_A2.

Police say same man raped 7 girls in 2 boroughs. (1989, May 25). The New York Times, p. B6.

Police see connection in 3 Brooklyn rapes. (1995, December 2). The New York Times, p. 26.

Police seek man for rape of six women in five cities. (1981, September 5). *Los Angeles Times*, p. OC_A9.

Police seek rapist in Van Nuys area. (1969, February 10). Los Angeles Times, p. SF8.

- Police seeking 2 men linked to series of assaults. (1986, September 6). *The New York Times*, p. 30.
- Police warn of rapist in NW. (1991, May 30). The Washington Post, p. DC7.
- Police write open letter to a rapist. (1973, July 27). Los Angeles Times, p. A4.
- Presecky W. (1983, October 18). Police seek rapist in suburban attacks. *The Chicago Tribune*, p. D1.
- Presecky, W. (1984, January 12). Countryside man indicted again in attacks on women. *The Chicago Tribune*, p. B1.
- Preston, J. (2005, April 28). Victims never saw the rapist, but some clues can't be hidden. *The New York Times*.
- Preston, J. (2005, April 29). Prosecutor seeks unlimited time in rape cases. The New York Times
- Preston J. (2005, May 18). Metro briefing New York: Manhattan: Rape suspect ordered to provide DNA. *The New York Times*, p. 6.
- Preston, J. (2006, January 2). In New York, power of DNA spurs call to abolish statute of limitations for rape. *The New York Times*.
- Price, J. (1977, July 28). 'Y' resident charged with rape. The Chicago Tribune, p. B5.
- Priest, D. (1988, February 24). Largest single rape case opens in Arlington. *The Washington Post*, p. B7.
- Priest, D. (1988, February 26). Witnesses back suspect's alibi in rape trial. *The Washington Post*, p. C3.
- Priest, D. (1988, February 27). Rape defendant says he found clothes. *The Washington Post*, p. G2.
- Priest, D. (1988, March 1). Arlington man guilty of 3 rapes, 1 assault. *The Washington Post*, p. D8.
- Prisoner admits 5 rapes in \$300 robbery raids. (1947, October 10). The Chicago Tribune, p. 4.
- Purdum, T.S. (1986, July 25). Suspect in rape in Newport linked to east side attacks. *The New York Times*, p. B3.
- Push search for a rapist. (1961, December 25). The Chicago Tribune, p. D9.
- Queens man guilty of rape in break-in on mansion row. (1987, May 21). The New York Times,

p. A26.

Queens police hunting armed man in 3 rapes. (1991, October 31). The New York Times, p. B5.

Quick takes. (2009, June 24). The Los Angeles Times

Quinn, J. (1972, November 14). Elusive rapist sought in Pasadena attacks. *Los Angeles Times*, p. SG7.

Quinn, J. (1987, September 22). Sepulveda rapist to get 60-year sentence. *Los Angeles Times*, p. J6.

Rail platform rapist sketch may aid police. (1952, March 30). The Chicago Tribune, p. 44.

Randall, Melanie. 2010. Sexual assault law, credibility, and 'ideal victims': Consent, resistance, and victim blaming. *Canadian Journal of Women and the Law*, 22(2): 397-434.

Rape attempt suspect faces new charges. (1953, June 21). The Chicago Tribune, p. 37.

Rape attempt tied to 4 other attacks. (1994, April 20). The Chicago Tribune.

Rape attempts confessed by bakery worker. (1949, January 20). The Chicago Tribune, p. 20.

Rape suspect admits attempts on 4, one a 13 year old girl. (1949, January 21). *The Chicago Tribune*, p. 21.

Rape suspect held. (1993, August 20). The Washington Post, p. C04.

Rape suspect is identified by 4 victims. (1954, February 3). The Chicago Tribune, p. A6.

Rape suspect is named in 8 more attacks. (1970, September 8). The Chicago Tribune, p. 18.

Rape suspect seized as park sex gang chief. (1948, November 15). *The Chicago Tribune*, p. 15.

Rapist, 24, sentenced to 35-70 year term. (1948, July 16). The New York Times, p. 4.

Rapist accused by 23 women gets 136 years. (1943, July 13). The Chicago Tribune, p. 8.

Rapist admits seven attacks on south side. (1952, September 18). The Chicago Tribune, p. B2.

Rapist attacks Brooklyn woman. (1964, November 10). The New York Times, p. 32.

Rapist beats teacher in her Evanston home. (1945, August 15). The Chicago Tribune, p. 20.

Rapist gets another 60-year sentence. (1989, July 28). The Chicago Tribune, p. N3.

Rapist held in 5 attacks to receive mental test. (1949, January 6). The Chicago Tribune, p. 18.

Rapist in California stumps police computers. (1987, December 6). The New York Times, p. 35

Rapist in Orange attacks 4th time in last 6 weeks. (1982, September 24). *Los Angeles Times*, p. OC_A6.

Rapist invades hospital, beaten off by woman patient. (1954, January 10). *The Washington Post*, p. M3.

Rapist kicks door in court; Sentence increased to 30 years. (1949, March 15). *The Chicago Tribune*, p. 1.

Rapist named by 23 unfolds bizarre story. (1941, December 22). The Chicago Tribune, p. 12.

Rapist poses as home buyer. (1973, May 24). The Washington Post, p. B24.

Rapist-robber suspect faces \$150,000 bond. (1953, December 22). The Chicago Tribune, p. A4.

Rapists sought. (1958, August 29). The Chicago Tribune, p. 7.

Rashbaum, W.K. (2002, May 9). Detectives say one man committed five robberies and sex attacks in Manhattan. *The New York Times*, p. B4.

Remnick, D. (1982, October 28). Arrest follows assault, chase near Aspen Hill. *The Washington Post*, p. C1.

Remy, H. (1967, July 7). Nab 'phantom' rape suspect. The Chicago Tribune, p. 1.

Remy, H. (1969, June 6). Police seize suspect in north side rapes. *The Chicago Tribune*, p. B19.

Report 8th N.W. side rape. (1977, August 20). *The Chicago Tribune*, p. N_A13.

Report admission of three rapes by alleged gang head. (1948, November 17). *The Chicago Tribune*, p. 4.

Report rapist indicted; Bond of \$180,000 set. (1943, June 23). The Chicago Tribune, p. 20.

Report rapist of 62 indicted for 5 attacks. (1954, February 6). The Chicago Tribune, p. 12.

Residents reminded rapist still at large. (2000, March 22). The Washington Post, p. B.7.

Reward offered for Brooklyn rape arrest. (1997, February 18). The New York Times, p. B2.

Reyes, D. (1980, December 30). Jury hears details about alleged rapes. Los Angeles Times,

- p. OC_A1.
- Reza, H. G. (1991, November 2). Hubbard faces 30 new counts in beach crimes. *Los Angeles Times*.
- Reza, H.G. (1991, November 8). DNA links Hubbard to La Jolla rape: Crime: Sources say the former police officer, who is accused of a series of beach attacks, is the main suspect, but he has not been charged. *Los Angeles Times*
- Richburg, K.B. (1978, May 28). Police hunt suspect in SE rapes. The Washington Post, p. B1.
- Rippee, G. (1994, September 9). Precautions are urged for women after attacks: Ojai Valley: Investigators fear assaults may be the work of a serial rapist. Deputies have no solid suspect. *Los Angeles Times*.
- Roane, K.R. (1998, September 13). Police in Brooklyn seek serial rapist in subway assaults. *The New York Times*, p. 51.
- Roane, K.R. (1998, November 15). Rape suspect in 4 attacks is in custody. *The New York Times*, p. 39.
- Roane, K. R. (1999, January 31). Bronx man charged in rapes and robberies of masseuses. *The New York Times*, p. 25.
- Robber gets 75 years for 1 of 4 rapes. (1954, January 27). The Chicago Tribune, p. 6.
- Robber-rapist gets 30 to 60 year term. (1965, April 3). The Chicago Tribune, p. N14.
- Robinson, M. B. 2014. *Media Coverage of Crime and Criminal Justice* 2nd edition. Durham: Carolina Academic Press.
- Ronan, T.P. (1976, December 1). A student, arrested in Yonkers faces rape and sodomy charges. *The New York Times*, p. 27.
- Rondeaux, C. (2007, June 9). Serial rapist suspected in Adelphi attacks. *The Washington Post*, p. B.4.
- Rozas, A. (2007, August 16). Suspect sough in several attacks on north side. *The Chicago Tribune*.
- Rucker, P. and Williams C. (2006, November. 23). D.C. man may be linked to 5 assaults. *The Washington Post*, P. B.2.
- Ruhlow, J. (1979, December 27). Police search for suspect in 15 rape cases. *Los Angeles Times*, p. CS1.

- Rush street rapist sought for 8 attacks. (1968, November 21). The Chicago Tribune, p. C11.
- Russell-Brown. K. 2006. *Protecting Our Own Race: Race, Crime, and African Americans*. Lanham: Rowman and Littlefield.
- S. side rape suspect held on true bills. (1967, July 18). The Chicago Tribune, p. 7.
- Sailor held in sex assaults. (1980, October 18). Los Angeles Times, p. SD_A6.
- Salesman given 4 years to life in valley attacks. (1967, March 28). Los Angeles Times, p. 3.
- Sanchez, C. (1993, August 12). Man sought in 6 sexual attacks in Manassas area; Several victims were grabbed from behind and pulled from street while jogging. *The Washington Post*, p. B04.
- Sanchez, C. (1993, August 19). Suspect arrested in series of rapes in Manassas area. *The Washington Post*, p. B1.
- Sanchez, C. (1994, February 15). Va. man pleads guilty to 4 rapes last year; state hopes for life term without parole. *The Washington Post*, p. b03.
- Saperstein, S. (1983, May 4). Suspect denies Aspen Hill rape in testimony. *The Washington Post*, p. A1.
- Saperstein, S. (1983, May 6). Buzbee convicted of Aspen Hill rape. The Washington Post, p. A1.
- Saperstein, S. (1983, June 1). Buzbee found guilty in 2nd rape trial. *The Washington Post*, p. B1.
- Sappell, J. (1982, September 24). Hollywood officer investigated in rapes. *Los Angeles Times*, p. OC_A10.
- Sargent, E. D. (1982, September 3). Public warned of rapist active in SE area. *The Washginton Post*, p. B1.
- School graduation photo causes arrest of suspect in rapes. (1949, January 4). *The Chicago Tribune*, p. A8.
- Schwartz, B. (1986, April 10). Suspect sought in sex attacks on elderly women. *Los Angeles Times*, p. OC_A8.
- Schworm, P. (2003, October 5). Rapist left DNA at crime scenes police warn residents not to be complacent. The Boston Globe, p. 5.
- Seiler, M. (1979, June 9). Security fails, teacher raped. Los Angeles Times, p. A1.
- Seize rapist; Admits guilt in 8 attacks. (1947, December 21). The Chicago Tribune, p. 3.

- Seize suspect in four recent rape attacks. (1966, January 10). The Chicago Tribune, p.18.
- Seize suspect in rape cases and kidnaping. (1952, July 12). The Chicago Tribune, p. 14.
- Seize youth, 15, in series of rape cases. (1961, February 4). The Chicago Tribune, p. 4.
- Seized in rape cases; Named assailant by 5. (1953, December 18). The Chicago Tribune, p. 11.
- Sentence of 5 years to life handed down in holdups, rapes. (1976, June 23). *Los Angeles Times*, p. B21.
- Serial rapist sought at beach. (1987, March 15). Los Angeles Times, p. SD_B4.
- Serial rapist sought for attacks in 2 counties. (1998, June 23). The New York Times, p. B5.
- Serrano, R.A. (1988, February 23). Police nab suspect in series of bold rapes. *Los Angeles Times*, p. P1.
- Serrano, R.A. (1989, March 7). Man charged in 12 rapes reconsiders guilty plea. *Los Angeles Times*, p. 2J1.
- Sevilla, G. (1994, March 30). Man gets 2 life terms in Howard county rapes; Attacker still faces sentence in Montgomery. *The Washington Post*, p. d03.
- Sex attack suspect sought by police in attack cases. (1966, August 12). Los Angeles Times, p. 1.
- Shots in dark reveal fears of hooded attack. (1964, July 10). Los Angeles Times, p. B16.
- Silvinksi, K. (1997, August 21). Sex assaults on 6 women may be linked each attack was in a parking lot. *The Chicago Tribune*, p. 2NW, 1:5.
- Smith, D. (1971, February 13). Ex-spa employe convicted of kidnaping, rape and robbery. *Los Angeles Times*, p. 2A.
- Smith, W. (1987, January 11). 'Not a good victim,' she played great role in rape-spree arrest. *The Chicago Tribune*, p. A1.
- Sneed, M. (1973, January 2). Abducted policewoman kills N. side rape suspect. *The Chicago Tribune*, p. 1.
- Sommerville, Diane M. 2004. *Rape and Race in the Nineteenth-Century South*. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.
- South L.A. rapist strikes again. (1978, March 7). Los Angeles Times, p. A3.

Spohn, C., Spears, J. 1996. The effect of offender and victim characteristics on sexual assault case processing decisions. *Justice Quarterly*, 13(4): 649-679.

Spolar, C. (1987, November 17). Montgomery police seek rapist of 7. *The Washington Post*, p. B3.

State's attorney assails hooded rapist publicity. (1966, August 14). *The Washington Post*, p. B2.

Stewart, R. W. (1986, March 5). Knife-wielder believed tied to rapes of 17. *Los Angeles Times*, p. V_A1.

Stout, D. (1996, June 15). A 7th attack is traced to 'elevator rapist'. *The New York Times*, p. 23.

Sullivan, J. F. (1974, October 3). Jersey jury gets rape case today. *The New York Times*, p. 92.

Surman, B. (1986, April 26). Elderly warned to be on alert for rapist. *Los Angeles Times*, p. OC_A22

Suspect arraigned in attacks on 6 women. (1966, October 21). Los Angeles Times, p. SF8.

Suspect arraigned in kidnappings, assaults. (1968, June 4). Los Angeles Times, p. SF8.

Suspect in 13 rapes held without bond. (1987, January 10). The Chicago Tribune, p. 5.

Suspect in attacks eluding police. (1990, August 15). The Chicago Tribune.

Suspect in murder and rapes seized. (1966, February 1). The Chicago Tribune, p. 6.

Suspect in rape called imposter of a celebrity. (1977, September 17). *The New York Times*, p. 8.

Suspect in rape cases detained without bail. (1985, July 28). The New York Times, p. 28.

Suspect is seized as San Jose rapist. (1987, December 17). The New York Times, p. B15.

Suspect is sought in 20 sexual assaults. (1993, December 21). The New York Times, p. B4.

Suspect seized in rapes in town that fingerprinted blacks. (1987, September 5). *The New York Times*, p. 46.

Suspect sought in sex assaults. (1995, August 15). The Chicago Tribune.

Teen-ager reports subway tunnel rape. (1989, December 6). The New York Times, p. B6.

Teen admits raping 30 girls aged 8 to 13. (1965, June 13). The Chicago Tribune, p. 20.

- Tench, M. and Fuller, N. (2003, August 17). Another woman attacked at home Framingham assault is 4th since Aug. 6. The Boston Globe, p. B. 1.
- Terrance, L. (2002, February 9). Accused rapist charged again. The Boston Globe, p. B. 3.
- Testimony to begin in accused rapist's trial. (1971, January 5). Los Angeles Times, p. E12.
- Thomas, P. and Davis, P. (1991, June 5). Rape suspect investigated in string of attacks in area. *The Washington Post*, p. D1.
- Thompson, D. (1973, May 30). Police nab suspect in Evanston rapes. *The Chicago Tribune*, p. 2.
- Three Evanston women to view rapist of four. (1945, October 18). The Chicago Tribune, p. 18.
- Tofani, L. (1979, July 30). Suspect sought in rapes of seven elderly women. *The Washington Post*, p. B3.
- Toner, R. (1985, July 27). Suspect held in midtown attacks on women. The New York Times, p. 1
- Tonry, M. 1996. Sentencing Matters. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Totes grocery sacks to rob, rape women. (1965, February 22). The Chicago Tribune, p. 22.
- Townsend, D. (1982, January 12). L.A. police link series of rape cases. Los Angeles Times, p. C1
- Trial date set for suspect in kidnap-rapes. (1966, December 7). Los Angeles Times, p. SF8.
- Tripoli, S. (1984, February 8). Ex-officer charged in new sex incident. *Los Angeles Times*, p. OC_A3.
- Tunnell, K. 1992. Film at eleven: Recent developments in the commodification of crime. *Sociological Spectrum*, 12: 295.
- U.S. worker held on two rape charges. (1955, February 14). The Washington Post, p. 1.
- Valente, J. (1978, January 10). Police renew their search for laundry room rapist. *The Washington Post*, p. C2.
- Valentine, P. W. (1998, April 30). Rapist gets second life term; Man allegedly targeted Asian women around Ellicott City. *The Washington Post*, p. B08.
- Van, J. (1978, October 8). Doctors find rape suspect has 10 lives. *The Chicago Tribune*, p. 1.
- Vander Ven, T. 2011. Getting Wasted: Why College Students Drink Too Much and Party So

- Hard. New York: New York University Press.
- Vessey, T. and Green, M.S. (1985, January 7). Md. escapee target of intense manhunt. *The Washington Post*, p. B1.
- Virginia's flasher rapist gets two life sentences. (1973, September 6). *The Washington Post*, p. B1.
- Vote to indict rapist, 17, held in 17 assaults. (1945, October 23). The Chicago Tribune, p. 12.
- Waco sex attacks charged to airman. (1955, August 5). The Washington Post, p. 3.
- Wallace, A. (1991, August 18). Rape case detective suspected an officer: Crime: Victims' descriptions of assailant's behavior and failure of stakeouts led investigator to hypothesis, he says. *Los Angeles Times*
- Walsh, A. 1987. The sexual stratification hypothesis and sexual assault in light of the changing conceptions of race. *Criminology*, 25(1): 153-173.
- Wattley, P. (1982, October 19). 'Loop rapist' suspect indicted. The Chicago Tribune, p. 15.
- Weisenhaus, D. and Cawley, J. (1981, June 22). Family terrorized by 'motel rapist'. *The Chicago Tribune*, p. 1.
- West, R. and Rosenhause S. (1979, July 28). Suspect held in teacher assaults. *Los Angeles Times*, p. B1.
- West, R. (1982, August 19). FBI arrests 'lost dog rapist' suspect. Los Angeles Times, p. SD_A11.
- Whisler, W. (1972, March 22). Suspect is charged in Oak Park rape. *The Chicago Tribune*, p. A10.
- Whitaker, J.D. (1982, October 10). The horror of Aspen Hill: 16 women rapes in 1 year. *The Washington Post*, p. A1.
- Whitaker, J.D. (1982, October 29). Crooke tells Aspen Hill nabbing rapist is top goal. *The Washington Post*, p. B3.
- Whitaker, J.D. and Engel, M. (1982, November 9). Judge denies suspect bond in Aspen Hill rape cases. *The Washington Post*, p. A1.
- Whitaker, J. D. and Weil, M. (1982, November 19). Suspect indicted in six assaults in Aspen Hill. *The Washington Post*, p. B1.
- Wilgoren, D. (1991, May 24). Serial rapist hunted in recent attack; Glover Park woman assaulted in home. *The Washington Post*, p. c05.

- Wilgoren, D. (2005, October 24). Fairfax woman fends off attacker in her bedroom. The Washington Post, p. B02.
- Williams, B. (1980, May 29). Rapist sentenced to 15-year term. Los Angeles Times, p. CS1.
- Williams, M., Demuth, S. 2007. Understanding the influence of victim gender in death penalty cases: The importance of victim race, sex-related victimization and jury decision making. *Criminology*, 45(4): 865-891.
- Wilson, T. (2000, June 13). Serial attacker suspected in a new assault. *The Chicago Tribune*.
- Wilson, David. 2005. *Inventing Black-on-Black Violence: Discourse, Space, and Representation*. Syracuse: Syracuse University Press
- Wilson, M. (2003, August 31) Police in Queens link 2 rapes in 2000 to 2 recent attacks. *The New York Times*, p. N35.
- Wilson, Michael and O'Brien, Erin. 2016. Constructing the ideal victim in the United States of America's annual trafficking in persons report. *Crime, Law, and Social Change,* 65: 29-45.
- Wilson, T. (1997, March 1). Deputies describe 2-month sexual assault spree in juvenile court. *Los Angeles Times*.
- Winton, R. (2003, September 18). Detectives issue warning on westside serial rapist. Los Angeles Times.
- Winton, R. (2003, October 31). Serial rape suspect held after DNA match is made. Los Angeles Times.
- Woman raped near scene of past attacks. (1963, January 14). The Washington Post, p. A3.
- Wood, H. (1980, January 5). Hunt rapist in Maywood who preys on elderly. *The Chicago Tribune*, p. W10.
- Wood, H. (1982, May 20). Downstater admits rapes at St. Xavier. The Chicago Tribune, p. 2.
- Wood, H. and Wattley, P. (1987, January 9). Suspect charged in 7 north side rapes. *The Chicago Tribune*, p.A1.
- Wride, N. and Cardenas, J. (2002, November 20). Trouble started early in life for rape suspect. Los Angeles Times.
- Wright, Lauren. Vander Ven, Thomas, Fesmire, Clara. 2016. American Serial Rape, 1940-

2010: An Estimation and Analysis of the Social Profile of Offenders, Styles of Attack, and Historical Trends. (Under Review).

Yarrow, A. L. (1990, May 30). One attacker tied to 7 rapes in Rockaways. *The New York Times*, p. B3.

Yednack C. and Greenfield, J. (2003, October 24) 8 assaults may be linked, police say. The Chicago Tribune.

Youth charged with numerous assaults on girls. (1948, December 4). The Boston Globe, p. 1.

Youth says he raped 30 age 10 to 13. (1965, June 13). The Washington Post, p. A7.

Zeleny, J. (1997, March 5). Lawndale residents on alert. The Chicago Tribune.